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ACCOUNTANTS’ REPORT ON HISTORICAL FINANCIAL INFORMATION TO THE
DIRECTORS OF AB&B BIO-TECH CO., LTD. JS*, CITIC SECURITIES (HONG
KONG) LIMITED AND CMB INTERNATIONAL CAPITAL LIMITED

Introduction
We report on the historical financial information of Ab&B Bio-Tech Co., Ltd. IS (“VL##

set out on pages -4 to [-59, which comprises the consolidated statements of financial position
of the Group as at December 31, 2023 and 2024 and March 31, 2025, the statements of
financial position of the Company as at December 31, 2023 and 2024 and March 31, 2025, and
the consolidated statements of profit or loss and other comprehensive income, the consolidated
statements of changes in equity and the consolidated statements of cash flows of the Group for
each of the two years ended December 31, 2023 and 2024 and the three months ended March
31, 2025 (the “Track Record Period”) and material accounting policy information and other
explanatory information (together, the “Historical Financial Information”). The Historical
Financial Information set out on pages I-4 to 1-59 forms an integral part of this report, which
has been prepared for inclusion in the prospectus of the Company dated July 31, 2025 (the
“Prospectus’) in connection with the initial listing of shares of the Company on the Main Board
of The Stock Exchange of Hong Kong Limited (the “Stock Exchange™).

Directors’ responsibility for the Historical Financial Information

The directors of the Company are responsible for the preparation of the Historical
Financial Information that gives a true and fair view in accordance with the basis of preparation
set out in Note 2 to the Historical Financial Information, and for such internal control as the
directors of the Company determine is necessary to enable the preparation of the Historical
Financial Information that is free from material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error.

Reporting accountants’ responsibility

Our responsibility is to express an opinion on the Historical Financial Information and to
report our opinion to you. We conducted our work in accordance with Hong Kong Standard on
Investment Circular Reporting Engagements 200 “Accountants’ Reports on Historical
Financial Information in Investment Circulars” issued by the Hong Kong Institute of Certified
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Public Accountants (the “HKICPA”), This standard requires that we comply with ethical
standards and plan and perform our work to obtain reasonable assurance about whether the
Historical Financial Information is free from material misstatement.

Our work involved performing procedures to obtain evidence about the amounts and
disclosures in the Historical Financial Information. The procedures selected depend on the
reporting accountants’ judgement, including the assessment of risks of material misstatement
of the Historical Financial Information, whether due to fraud or error. In making those risk
assessments, the reporting accountants consider internal control relevant to the entity’s
preparation of the Historical Financial Information that gives a true and fair view in accordance
with the basis of preparation set out in Note 2 to the Historical Financial Information in order
to design procedures that are appropriate in the circumstances, but not for the purpose of
expressing an opinion on the effectiveness of the entity’s internal control. Our work also
included evailuating the appropriateness of accounting policies used and the reasonableness of
accounting estimates made by the directors of the Company, as well as evaluating the overall
presentation of the Historical Financial Information.

We believe that the evidence we have obtained is sufficient and appropriate to provide a
basis for our opinion.

Opinion

in our opinion, the Historical Financial Information gives, for the purposes of the
accountants’ report, a true and fair view of the Group’s and the Company’s financial position
as at December 31, 2023 and 2024 and March 31, 2025, and of the Group’s financial
performance and cash flows for the Track Record Period in accordance with the basis of
preparation set out in Note 2 to the Historical Financial Information,

Review of stub period comparative financial information

We have reviewed the stub period comparative financial information of the Group which
comprises the consclidated statement of profit or loss and other comprehensive income, the
consolidated statement of changes in equity and the consolidated statement of cash flows for
the three months ended March 31, 2024 and other explanatory information (the “Stub Period
Comparative Financial Information”). The directors of the Company are responsible for the
preparation of the Stub Period Comparative Financial Information in accordance with the basis
of preparation set out in Note 2 to the Historical Financial Information. Our responsibility is
to express a conclusion on the Stub Period Comparative Financial Information based on our
review. We conducted our review in accordance with Hong Kong Standard on Review
Engagements 2410 “Review of Interim Financial Information Performed by the Independent
Auditor of the Entity” issued by the HKICPA. A review consists of making inquiries, primarily
of persons responsible for financial and accounting matters, and applying analytical and other
review procedures. A review 1s substantially less in scope than an audit conducted in
accordance with Hong Kong Standards on Auditing and consequently does not enable us to
obtain assurance that we would become aware of all significant matters that might be identified
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in an audit. Accordingly, we do not express an audit opinion. Based on our review, nothing has
come te our attention that causes us to believe that the Stub Period Comparative Financial
Information, for the purposes of the accountants’ report, is not prepared. in all material
respects, in accordance with the basis of preparation set out in Note 2 to the Historical

Financial Information.

Report on matters under the Rules Governing the Listing of Securities on the Stock
Exchange and the Companies (Winding Up and Miscellaneous Provisions) Ordinance

Adfjustments

In preparing the Historical Financial Information, no adjustments to the Underlying
Financial Statements as defined on page [-4 have been made.

Dividends

We refer to Note 15 to the Historical Financial Information which states that no dividend
was declared or paid by the Company in respect of the Track Record Period.

Plotte Tewobe. Tobowwitin

Deloitte Touche Tohmatsu
Certified Public Accountants
Hong Kong

July 31, 2025
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HISTORICAL FINANCIAL INFORMATION OF THE GROUP
Preparation of Historical Financial Information

Set out below is the Historical Financial Information which forms an integral part of this
accountants’ report.

The consolidated financial statements of the Group for the Track Record Period, on which
the Historical Financial Information is based, have been prepared in accordance with the
accounting policies which conform with IFRS Accounting Standards as issued by the
International Accounting Standards Board (“JASB”} and were audited by us in accordance with
International Standards on Auditing issued by the International Auditing and Assurance
Standards Board (“Underlying Financial Statements™).

The Historical Financial Information is presented in Renminbi (“RMB”) and all values
are rounded to the nearest thousand (RMB'000) except when otherwise indicated.
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF PROFIT OR LOSS AND OTHER
COMPREHENSIVE INCOME

Three months ended

Year ended December 31, March 31,
Notes 2023 2024 2024 2025
RMB’000 RMB'G0O0 RMB'000 RMB’000
(unaudited)

Revenue . ................... G 52,168 259,612 306 413
Costofsales................. (72,511) (108,157 (5,058) (4,038)
Gross (loss) profit............ (20,343) 151,455 (4,752) (3.625)
Other income . ............... 8 14,202 24,366 14,497 4,966
Impairment losses under expected

credit loss model, net of

reversal . ... ... ... ... (48) (66) 21 25
Other gains and losses . ........ 9 1,312 (816) 113 9
Selling expenses . .. ........... (55,433) (140,300) (8,842)  (19,303)
Administrative expenses . .. ... .. (74,663)  (58,563) (15,475} (11,944)
Listing expenses . . ... ......... - (8,542) - (5,744)
Research and development

BXPENSES . v v (283,159) (205,569)  (43,205) (46,514)
Other expenses . . ............. - (2,968) (2,108) (46)
Finance costs .. .............. 10 (6,609) (17,713) (3,580) (5,141
Loss beforetax . ............. 11 (424,741) (258,716)  (63,331) (87,317)
Income tax expense ........... I2 - - - -
Loss and total comprehensive

expense for the year/period. . . 424,741y (258,716}  (63,331) (87,317
Loss per share
— Basic and diluted (RMB)...... 14 (1.18) (0.72) (0.18) (0.24)
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Non-current assets

Property, plant and equipment .. ...
Right-of-use assets. . ............
Intangible assets. . ..............
Other receivables and prepayments .

Current assets

Inventories. . ..................
Trade receivables...............
Other receivables and prepayments .
Financial assets at fair value
through profit or loss (“FVTPL™) .
Pledged bank deposits ... ........
Time deposits. .. ...............
Cash and cash equivalents .. ......

Current lHabilities

Trade and other payables.........
Amounts due to shareholders ... ..
Refund liabilities . . ... ..........
Borrowings .. .................
Lease liabilities . .. ... ..........

Net current liabilities. . . ... ... .. ..
Total assets less current liabilities. . .

Non-current liabilities

Borrowings .. ... ... ... ... ...
Lease Habilities . . ... ........ ...
Deferred income ... ... ... .. ...

Netassets . .....................

Capital and reserves
Share capital . .................
Reserves . ....................

Totalequity ....................

Notes

16
17
18
23

21
22
23

24
25
25
25

26
39
27
28
29

28
29
30
26

32
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF FINANCIAL POSITION

As at
As at December 31, March 31,
2023 2024 2025
RMB'0Q0 RMB'000 RMB*060
740,782 944,690 943,339
94,476 86,091 83,995
26,844 25,660 25,183
44,396 60,861 63,448
906,498 1,117,302 1,116,465
41,818 57,809 87,372
73,595 284,905 221,277
14,772 20,491 20,932
10,020 - -
5,486 138 138
22,236 — -
45,318 132,194 114,561
213,245 495,537 444,280
291,550 441,615 420,157
- 27,673 -
13,259 84,721 81,056
217,887 347,524 405,299
6,467 7,146 8,027
529,163 908,679 014,539
(315,918) (413,142) (470,259)
590,580 704,160 646,206
148,262 462,012 490,412
48,808 42,127 443,394
30,240 37,018 36,807
- 16,416 16,416
227,310 557,573 584,029
363,270 146,587 62,177
360,000 360,000 360,000
3,270 (213,413) (297,823)
363,270 146,587 62,177




Non-current assets

Property, plant and equipment . . . ..
Right-of-use assets. . ............
Intangible assets. . ..............
Investment in a subsidiary . .. ... ..
Other receivables and prepayments .

Current assets

Inventories. . ..................
Trade receivables. . ... .. ........
Other receivables and prepayments .
Financial assets at FVTPL .. . ... ..
Pledged bank deposits . ..........
Time deposits. . . ...............
Cash and cash equivalents . .. ... ..

Current liabilities

Trade and other payables.........
Amounts due to shareholders .....
Refund labilities . .. ............
Borrowings ....... ... ... ...

Net current liabilities. . ...........
Total assets less current liabilities. . .

Non-current liabilities

Borrowings . ... .. ... ...,
Deferred income . ..............
Trade and other payables.........

Netassets......................

Capital and reserves
Share capital .. ........ ... ... ...
Reserves .....................

Total equity ... ........... . .....

Notes

16
17
18
41
23

21
22
23
24
25
25
25

26
39
27
28

28
30
26

32
33

STATEMENTS OF FINANCIAL POSITEON OF THE COMPANY

As at
As at December 31, March 31,
2023 2024 2025
RMB'0G0 RMB'000 RMB’000
689,902 896,153 896,945
44.926 43,958 43,717
26,844 25,660 25,183
93,838 111,615 114,733
42,004 58,637 62,127
897,514 1,136,023 1,142,705
39,120 55,382 85,001
73,595 284,905 221,277
96,050 117,732 175,549
10,020 - -
5,486 138 138
22,236 - -
41,407 131,542 113,150
287,914 589,699 595,115
251,609 460,893 488,093
- 27,673 -
13,259 84,721 81,056
212,897 337,614 405,299
477,765 910,901 974,448
(189,851) (321,202) (379,333
707,663 814,821 763,372
148,262 462,012 490,412
30,240 37,018 36,807
- 16,416 16,416
178,502 515,446 543,635
529,161 299,375 219,737
360,000 360,000 360,000
169,161 {60,625) {140,263)
529,161 299,375 219,737




CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF CHANGES IN EQUITY

Sharc-based

Share payments Accumulated
Share capital premium reserve fosses Total
RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB GO0
(Note 32) {Note 31)

As at January 1, 2023 . ... ... 360,000 614,930 30,172 {285,618) 139,484
Loss and total comprehensive

expense for the year. . ... ... - - - (424,741) {424,741)
Recognition of equity-settled share-

based payments (Note 31). . . .. - - 48,527 - 48,527
As at December 31, 2023. . . . .. 360,000 614,930 98,699 {710,359) 363,270
Loss and total comprehensive

expense for the year. . ... ... - - - (258,716) (258,716)
Recognition of equity-settled

share-based payments (Note 31) . - - 42,033 - 42,033
Vest of restricted shares . . . . . .. - 16,437 {16,437) - -
As at December 31, 2024 . . . . .. 360,000 691,367 64,293 {969,075) 146,587
Loss and total comprehensive

expense for the period. . . . . .. - - - (87,317} (87.317
Recognition of equity-settled

share-based payments

Note3D) . ............. - - 2,907 - 2,907
Asat March 31,2025. . ... ... 360,000 691,367 67,202 (1,056.392) 62,177
As at December 31, 2023, . .. .. 360,000 614,930 98,699 (110,359) 363,270
Loss and total comprehensive

expense for the period

{unaudited) . . . . .. .. ... .. - - - {63,331) {63,331)
Recognition of equity-settled

share-hased payments

(unaudited) . ......... .. - - 12,902 - 12,902
As at March 31, 2024

(unaudited). . . ... .... ... 360,000 614,930 111,601 (773,690) 312,841




CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF CASH FLOWS

Three months ended

Year ended December 31, March 31,
2023 2024 2024 2025
RMB 000 RME'000 RMB'000 RMB'000
(tnaudited)
OPERATING ACTIVITIES
Lossbeforetax . ......... ... ... 424,741y  (258,716) (63,33 (87,317)
Adjustments for:
Financecosts . . . ... .. . L. 6,609 17.713 3,580 5,141
Interest income. . . .................... (3,158) 474) 221) (67
Depreciation of property, plant and equipment . . 39,378 49,039 10,720 14,664
Depreciation of right-of-use assets . ... ..., .. 7,558 8,385 2,056 2,096
Amortisation of intangible assets . .. ... ..... 1,039 1,778 405 471
Impairment losses under expected credit loss, net
ofreversal . ......... .. ... . ... .. .. 48 66 n 25)
Income from government grants. . .......... (509 (1,772) (1,138) 21
Write-down of inventories, net of reversal .. ... 45,698 18,095 10 (779)
Loss on disposal of property, plant and
BQUIPMENt. . . . . .o 40 1,057 - -
Gain from changes in fair value of financial
assets at FEVTPL. ......... .. ... ..... {1,352) (241) (113) )
Recognition of equity-settled share-based
PAYIMENTS & . oo 47915 41,666 12,902 2,907
Operating cash flows before moveinents in working
capital. . ..o 281,474y (123,404) (35,1113 {63,123)
Increase in inventories ... ................ (67,653) (34,086) {29,914} (28,784)
(Increase) decrease in trade receivables. .. ... ... (73,643) (211,376) 6,314 63,653
Increase in other receivables and prepayments . . . . (11,759) (14,570) {0,470) 7,766
Decrease (increase) in {rade and other payables . . . 115,282 112,465 (18,523) 2,345
Increase (decrease) in refund Habilities. .. ... ... 13,259 71,462 97 (3,605)
NET CASH USED IN OPERATING
ACTIVITIES. . .. .......... ... ....... (305,988) (199,509 {86,607) (21,808)
INVESTING ACTIVITIES
Receipt of interest from banks .. ......... ... 2475 474 221 67
Purchases of financial assets measured at FVTPL . . (430,600)  (120,000) (42,000) (28,900)
Redemption of financial assets at FVTPL ... .. .. 632,089 130,261 52,133 28,909
Purchases of property, plant and equipment . . . . .. {265,297)  (199,573) (72,148) (32,068)
Proceeds from disposal of property, plant and
SOUIPMENE o . v v - 500 - -
Payments for right-of-use assets .. ... ... ... (9,290 - - -
Receipt of government grants . . . .. .......... 1,000 8,350 - -
Payments for rental deposits. .. .. ....... ... (1,095) - - -
Withdrawal of rental deposits ... ........... - 125 50 -
Purchases of intangible assets. . . .. ..., ..., .. (16,590) (594) {119 -
Placement of pledged bank deposits. . .. ... .. .. (43,994) (138 - -
Withdrawal of pledged bank deposits . . . ... .. .. 90,796 5,486 228 -
Placement of time deposits with maturity of more
than threemonths . .. ....... ... ... ... .. (50,000) - - -
Withdrawal of time deposits with maturity of more
than three months . . ... ..., ... ........ 90,000 22,236 22.236 -
NET CASH USED IN INVESTING
ACTIVITIES. . . ... ... ... ... .. .... (506)  (152,673) (39,399) (31,992)
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Three months ended

Year ended December 31, March 31,
2023 2024 2024 2025
RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000
(unaudired)

FINANCING ACTIVITIES
Proceeds from bank borrowings . ... ......... 380,883 765,335 195,260 172,131
Repayments of bank borrowings . . ... ... ... .. (34,000) (336,190) (31,150) (103,751)
Loans from shareholders .. .. ... .. ......... - 27,500 - 7,000
Repayments of loans from shareholders . . ... ... - - - (34,500}
Isswe costpaid. . . ... ... ... ... ..., - {1,266) - (£,152}
Interestpaid . .. ... ... .. ... .. ..., (6,830) (10,519) (2,212) (2,709
Payments of lease liabilities . . .. ............ 4,887 (6,002) (1,401) (852)
NET CASH FROM FINANCING ACTIVITIES. . 335,166 439,058 160,497 36,167
NET INCREASE (DECREASE) IN CASH AND

CASH EQUIVALENTS . . ... ... .......... 28,672 86,876 34,491 (17,633)
Cash and cash equivalents at beginning of the

yearfperiod. .. ... ... 16,646 45,318 45,318 132,194
Cash and cash equivalents at end of the

yearfperiod . . ... . ... ... ..., 45,318 132,194 79,809 114,561
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NOTES TO THE HISTORICAL FINANCIAL INFORMATION
1. GENERAL INFORMATION

Ab&B Bio-Tech Co., Ltd. JS (“the Company™) was founded on October 28, 2015, by Mr. An Youcai {“Mr.
An"}, the controlling sharcholder, in Taizhou as a limited liability company under the laws of the People’s Republic
of the China {the "PRC™). On February 22, 2022, the Company was converted to a joint stock company with limited
liability under the Company Law of the PRC. The addresses of the registered office and principal place of busiaess
of the Company are disclosed in the section headed “Corporate Information™ in the Prospectus.

The Group is principally engaged in the research and development, manufacturing and commercialization of
vaccine products for human use. Particuiars and principal activities of the Company’s subsidiary are disclosed in Note
41.

The Historical Financial Information is presented in Renminbi (“RMB™), which is also the functional currency
of the Company.

2, BASIS OF PREPARATION OF HISTORICAL FINANCIAL INFORMATION

The Historical Financial Information has been prepared based on the accounting policies set out in Note 4
which conform with IFRS Accounting Standards as issued by the TASB.

As at March 31, 2025, the Group’s current liabilities cxceeded its current assets by RMB470,259,000. As of
May 31, 2025, the Group had credit facilities in an aggregate principal amount of RMB930,000,000, of which
RMB713,980,000 had been drawn and RMB216,020,000 remained available to the Group. After taking into account
of the Group’s cash flow projection, expected working capital requirements and the financing plans, the directors of
the Company are satisfied that the Group is able to have sufficient working capital to finance its operations and 10
meet its financial obligations for twelve months after March 31, 2025 and it is appropriatc to prepare Historical
Financial Information on a going concern basis.

The statutory financial statements of the Company for the year ended December 31, 2023 were prepared in
accordance with Accounting Standards for Business Enterprises of the PRC and were audited by ZE3 @ 5HTEIAT
(5B & 4%)/RSM China Certified Public Accountants LLP*, certified public accountants registered in the PRC,
The statutory financial statements of the Company for the year ended December 31, 2024 were prepared in
accordance with Accounting Standards for Business Enterprises of the PRC and were audited by ﬂ?&ﬁﬁﬁi%‘i'ﬁ'ﬂfé}i
IR HES4%)/Jiangsu Fangcheng Certified Public Accountants Firm®, certified public accountants registered in the
PRC.

3. ADOPTION OF NEW AND AMENDMENTS TO IFRS ACCOUNTING STANDARDS

For the purpose of preparing and presenting the Historical Financial Information for the Track Record Period,
the Group has consistently applied the accounting policies which conform with IFRS Accounting Standards, which
are effective for the Group’s accounting period beginning on January [, 2025, throughout the Track Record Period.

New and revised JFRS Accounting Standards in issue but not yet etfective

The Group has not early applied the following new and amendments to IFRS Accounting Standards that have
been issued but are not yet effective:

Amendments to IFRS 9 and IFRS 7. . . .. Amendments to the Clagsification and Measuremens of
Financial Instruments?

Amendments 10 IFRS 9 and IFRS 7. . . .. Contracts Referencing Nature dependent Electricity®

Amendments to JFRS [0 and IAS 28 . . ..  Sale or Contribution of Assets between an Investor and its
Associate or Joint Venture'

Amendments to IFRS Accounting Annuai Tmprovements to IFRS Accounting Standards —

Standards. . . ... Voluine 1%

IFRS 18 ... ... ... .. .. ... . ... .. Presentation and Disclosure in Financial Statements?

t Effective for annuz] periods beginning on or after a date to be determined.

2 Effective for annual periods beginning on or after January 1, 2026.

3 Effective for annual periods beginning on or after January 1, 2027,

ke English name is for identification purpose only
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Except for the new and amendments to IFRS Accounting Standards mentiened below, the directors of the
Company anticipate that the application of all ether amendments te IFRS Accounting Standards will have no material
impact an the Group's consolidated financial statements in the foresccable future,

IFRS 18 Presentation and Disclosure in Financial Statements

IFRS 18 Presentation and Disclosure in Financial Statements, which sets out requirements on presentation and
disclosures in financial statements, will replace IAS | Presentation of Financial Statemenis. This new IFRS
Accounting Standard, while carrying forward many of the requirements in 1AS 1, introduces new requirements to
present specified categories and defined subtotals in the statements of profit or loss; provide disclosures on
management-defined performance measures in the notes to the financial statements and improve aggregation and
disaggregation of information to be disclosed in the financial statements. In addition, some IAS 1 paragraphs have
been moved to IAS 8 and IFRS 7. Minor amendments to [AS 7 Statements of Cash Flows and IAS 33 Earnings per
Share are also made.

IFRS 18, and amendments to other standards, will be effective for annual periods beginning on or after January
1, 2027, with carly application permitted. The application of the new standard is expected to affect the presentation
of the siatements of profit or loss and disclosures in the future financial statements, but ne impact on the Group's
financial positions and pevformance.

4. MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICY INFORMATION

The Historical Financial Information has been prepared in accordance with the following accounting policies
which conform with IFRS Accounting Standards issued by the IASB. For the purpose of preparation of the Historical
Financial Information, information is considered material if such information is reasenably expected to influence
decisions made by primary users. In addition, the Historical Finaneial Information includes the applicable disclosurces
required by the Rules Governing the Listing of Securities on The Stock Exchange of Hong Kong Limited and by the
Hong Kong Companies Ordinance.

Basis of consolidation

The Historical Financial Information incorporates the financial statements of the Company and entities
controlled by the Company and its subsidiaries, Control is achicved when the Company:

- has power over the invesice;
. is exposed, or has rights, to variable returns from its involvement with the investee; and
. has the ability to use its power to affect its rcturns.

The Group reassesses whether or not it controls an investee if fucts and circumstances indicate that there are
changes to one or more of the three elements of controf listed above.

Consolidation of a subsidiary begins when the Group obtains control ever the subsidiary and ceases when the
Group loscs control of the subsidiary.

When necessary, adjustments are made to the financial statements of the subsiciary to bring their zccounting
pelicies in line with the Group's accounting policies.

All intragroup assets and liabilities, equity, income, expenses and cash flows relating to transactions between
members of the Group are climinated in foll on consolidation.

Investment in a subsidiary

Investment in a subsidiary is included in the statement of financiul position of the Company at cost less any
identified impairment losses.
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Revenue from contracts with customers

Information about the Group's accounting policics relating to revenue from contracts with customers is
provided in Notes 6 and 27.

Leases

The Group assesses whether a contract is or contains a lease bused on the definition under IFRS 16 at inception
of the contract, Such contract will not be reassessed unless the terms and conditions of the contract are subsequently
changed.
The Group as lessee
Shoret-term leases

The Group applies the short-term lease recognition exemption to leases of equipment and staff guarters that
have 4 lease term of 12 months or less from the commencement date and do not contain a purchase option. Lease
payments on short-term leases are recognized as expense on a straight-line basis over the lease term.
Right-of-use assets

The cost of right-of-use asset includes:

. the amount of the initial measurement of the lease liability; and

. any iease payments made at or before the commencement date, less any lease incentives received,

Right-of-use assets are measured at cost, less any accumulated depreciation and impairment losses, and
adjusied for any remeasurement of lease liabilities.

Right-of-use assets are depreciated on a straight-line basis over the shorter of its estimated useful life and the
lease term.

The Group presents right-of-use assets as a separate line item on the consolidated statements of financial
position.

Refundable rental deposits

Refundable rental deposits paid are accounted under IFRS 9 and initially measured at fair value. Adjustments
to fair value at initial recognition are considered as additional lease payments and included in the cost of right-of-use
assets,
Lease liabilities

At the commencement date of 4 lease, the Group recognizes and measures the lease liability at the present
value of lease payments that are vnpaid at that date. In calculating the present value of lease payments, the Group
uses the incremental borrowing rate at the lease commencement date if the interest rate implicit in the lease is not

readily determinable.

The lease payments are fixed payments {including in-substance fixed payments) less any lease incentives
receivable,

After the commencement date, lease liabilities are adjusted by interest accretion and lease payments.

The Group presents lease lizbilities as 4 separate line item on the consolidated statements of financial position.
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Borrowing costs

Borrowing costs directly attributable to the acquisition, construction or production of gualifying assets, which
are assets that necessarily take a substantial period of time to get ready for their intended use or sule, are added 1o
the cost of those assets until such time us the assets are substantially ready for their intended use or sale,

Any specific borrowing that remain outstanding after the related asset is ready for its intended use or sale is
included in the general borrowing pool for caleulation of capitalization rate on general borrowings. Investment
income earned on the temporary investment of specific borrowings pending their expenditure on qualifying assets is
deducted from the borrowing costs eligible for capitalization,

All other borrowing costs are recognized in profit or loss in the pericd in which they are incurred.

Government grants

Government grants are not recognized until there is reasonable assurance that the Group will comply with the
conditions attaching to them and that the grants will be received.

Government grants are recognized in profit or loss on a systematic basis over the periods in which the Group
recognizes as expenses the related costs for which the grams are intended to compensate. Specifically, government
grants whose primary condition is that the Group should purchase, construct or otherwise acquire non-current assets
are recognized as deferred income in the consolidated statements of financial position and transferred to profit or loss
on a systematic and rational basis over the useful lives of the related assets.

Government grants related to income that are receivable as compensation for expenses or losses already
incurred or for the purpose of giving immediate financial support to the Group with no future related costs are
recognized in profit or loss in the period in which they become receivable. Such grants are presented under “other
income”,

Employce benefits
Retirement benefit costs

The Greup participates in state-managed reticement benefit schemes, which are defined contribution schemes,
pursuant to which the Group pays a fixed percentage of irs staff’s wages as contributions to the plans. Payments to
such retirement benefit schemes are recognized as an expense when employces have rendered service entitling them
to the coniributions.
Short-term employee benefits

Short-term employee benefits are recognized at the undiscounted amount of the benefits expected 1o be paid
as and when employees rendered the services. All short-term employee benefits are recognized as an expensc unless

another IFRS requires or permits the inclusion of the benefit in the cost of an asset.

A liability is recognized for benefits accruing to employees (such as wages and salaries, annval leave and sick
jeave) after deducting any amount already paid.

Share-based payments
Equity-settled share-based payment transactions
Resiricied Shares granted ro employees

Equity-settled share-based payments to employees and others providing similar services are measured at the
fair value of the equity instruments at the grant date.

The fair value of the equity-settled share-based payments determined at the grant date without taking into
consideration all non-market vesting conditions is expensed on 4 straight-line basis over the vesting period, based on
the Group’s estimate of equity instruments that will eventwaily vest, with a corresponding increase in equity
(share-based payments reserve). At the end of each reporting period, the Group revises its estimate of the number of
equity instraments expected to vest based on assessment of all relevant non-market vesting conditions. The impact
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of the revision of the original estimates, if any, is recognized in the profit or loss such that the cumulative expense
reflects the revised estimate, with a corresponding adjustment to the share-based payments reserve. For shares that
vest immediately at the date of grant, the fuir value of the shares granted is expensed immediately to profit or loss.

When sharcs granted are vested, the amount previously recognized in share-based payments reserve will be
transferred to share premium.

Taxation
Income tax expense represents the sum of current and deferred income tax expense.

The tax currently payable is based on taxable profit for the year. Taxable profit differs from loss before tax
because of income or expense that are taxable or deductible in other years and items that are never taxable or
deductible. The Group’s liability for current tax is calculated using tax rates that have been enacted or substantively
enacted by the end of the reporting period.

Deferred tax is recognized on temporary differences between the carrying amounts of assets and liabilities in
the Historical Financial Information and the corresponding tax bases used in the computation of taxable profit.
Deferred tax liabilities are generally recognized for all taxable temporary differences. Deferred tax assets are
generally recognized for all deductible temporary differences to the extent that it is probable that taxable profits will
be available against which those deductible temporary differences can be utilized. Such deferred tax assets and
liabilities are not recognized if the temporary difference arises from the initial recognition (other than in a business
combination) of assets and iiabilities in a transaction that affects neither the taxable profit nor the accounting profit
and at the time of the transaction does not give rise to equal taxable and deductible temporary differences.

Deferred tax liabilities are recognized for taxable temporary differences associated with investments in the
subsidiary, except where the Group is able to control the reversal of the temporary difference and it is probable that
the temporary difference will not reverse in the foreseeable future. Deferred tax assets arising from deductible
temporary differences associated with such investiment is only recognized to the extent that it is probable that there
will be sufficient taxable profits against which to utilize the benefits of the temporery differences and they are
expected to reverse in the foresecable future.

The carrying amount of deferred tax asscts is reviewed at the end of each reporting period and reduced to the
extent that it is no longer probable that sufficient taxable profits will be available to allow all or part of the asset to
be recovered.

Deferred tax assets and liabilities are measured at the tax rates that are expected to apply in the period in which
the liability is settied or the asset is realized, based on tax rate (und tax laws) that have been cnacted or substantively
enacted by the end of the reporting period.

The measurement of deferred tax liabilities and asscts reflects the tax consequences that would follow from
the manner in which the Group expects, at the end of the reporting period, to recover or settle the carrying amount
of its assets and liabilities.

For the purposes of measuring deferred tax for leasing transactions in which the Group recognizes the
right-of-use assets and the reluted lease liabilities, the Group first determines whether the tax deductions are
attributable to the right-of-use assets or the lease liabilities.

For leasing transactions in which the tax deductions are attributable to the lease iiabilities, the Group applies
1AS 12 requirements to the lease liabilities and the related assets separaicly. The Group recognizes a deferred tax
asset related to lease lizbilities to the extent that it is probable thar taxable profit will be available against which the
deductible temporary difference can be utilized and a deferred tax liability for all taxable temporary differences.
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Deferred tax assets and liabilities sre offset when there is a legally enforceable right to set off cuerent tax assets
against current tax liabilities and when they relate to income taxes levied to the same taxable entity by the same
raxation authority.

Current and deferred tax are recognized in profit or loss.
Property, plant and equipment

Property, plant and equipment are tangible assets that are held for use in the production or supply of goods or
services, or for administrative purposes {other than construction in progress as described below). Property, plant and
cquipment arc stated in the consolidated statements of financial position at cost less subsequent accumulated
depreciation and accumulated impairinent losses, if any.

Properties and equipment in the course of construction for production, supply or administrative purposes are
carried at cost, less any recognized impairment loss. Costs include any costs directly atiributable to bringing the asset
to the Jocation and condition necessary for it to be capable of operating in the manner intended by management,
including costs of testing whether the related assets is functioning properly and, for qualifying assets, borrowing costs
capitalized in accordance with the Group’s accounting policy. Depreciation of these assets, on the same basis as other
property assets, commences when the assets are ready for their intended use.

When the Group makes payments for ownership interests of properties which includes both feasehold land and
building elements, the entire consideration is allocated between the leasehold land and the building elements in
proportion to the velative fair values at initial recognition, To the extent the allocation of the relevant payments can
be made reliably, interest in leaschold land is presented as “right-of-usc asscts” in the consolidated statements of
financial position. When the consideration cannot be allocated reliably between non-lease building element and
undivided interest in the underlying leasehold land, the entire properties are classified as property, plant and
equipment,

Depreciation is recognized so as to write off the cost of assets other than property, plant and equipment in the
course of construction less their residual values over their estimated useful lives, using the straight-line method, The
estimated useful lives, vesidual values and depreciation method arc reviewed at the end of the reporting period, with
the effect of any changes in estimate accounted for on a prospective basis,

An item of preperty, plant and equipment is derecognized upon disposal or when no future economic benefits
are expected to arise from the continued use of the asset. Any gain ar loss arising on the disposal or retirement of
property, plant and equipment is determined as the difference between the sales proceeds and an item of the carrying
amount of the asset and is recognized in profit or loss.

Intangihle assets
Intangible assets acquired separately

Intangible assets with finite useful lives that are acquired separately are carried at costs less accumulated
amortization and any accumulated impairment losses. Amortization for intangible assets with finite useful lives is
recognized on a straight-line basis over their estimated usefnl lives. The estimated uscful life and amortization
method are reviewed at the end of each reporting period, with the effect of any changes in estimate being accounted
for on 2 prospective basis. Intangible assets with indefinite useful lives that are acquired separately are carried at cost
less any subsequent accumulated impairment losses,

Internally-gencrated intangible assets—research and development expenditure
The Group incurs significant costs and efforts on research and development activitics, which include
expenditures on vaccine products. Expenditure on research activities is recognized as an cxpense in the period in

which it is incurred.

An internally-generated intangible asset arising from development activities (or from the development phase
of an internal project) is recognized if, and only if, all of the faliowing have been demonstrated:

. the technical feasibility of completing the intangible asset so that it will be available for vse or sale;
. the intention to complete the intangible asset and use or sell it
. the ability to use or sell the intangible asset;
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. how the intangible assct will generate probable future cconomic benefits;

. the availability of adequate technical, financial and other resources to complete the development and to
use or scll the intangible asset; and

. the ability to measure reliably the expenditure attributable to the intangible assct during its
development.

The amount initially recognized for internally-generated intangibie asset is the sum of the expenditure incurred
from the date when the intangible asset first meets the recognition criteria listed above. Where no internally-
generated intangible asset can be recognized, development expenditure is recognized in profit or loss in the period
in which it is incurred.

Subsequent to initial recognition, internally-generated intangible assets sre reported at cost less accumulated
amortization and accumulated impairment losses (if any), on the same basis as intangible assets that are acquired
separately.

Impairment on property, plant and cquipment, right-of-use assets and intangible assets

At the end of each reperting period, the Group reviews the carrying amounts of its property, plant and
equipment, right-of-use assets and intangible assets with finite useful lives to determine whether there is any
indication that these assets have suffered an impairment loss. If any such indication exists, the recoverable amount
of the relevant asset is estimated in order to determine the extent of the impairment loss (if any). Intangiblc assets
not yet available for use are tested for impairment at least annuaily, and whenever there is an indication that may be
impaired,

The recoverable amount of property, plant and equipment, right-of-use assets and intangible assets are
estimated individually, When it is not possible to estimate the recoverable amount individually, the Group estimates
the vecoverable amount of the cash-generating unit to which the asser belongs.

In testing a cash-generating unit for impairment, corporate assets are allocaied to the relevant cash-generating
unit when 2 reasonable and consistent basis of allocation can be established, or otherwise they are allocated to the
smallest group of cash-generating units for which a reasonable and consistent allocation basis can be established. The
recoverable amount is determined for the cash-generating unit or group of cash-generating units to which the
corporate asset belongs, and is compared with the carrying amount of the relevant cash-generating unit or group of
cash-generating units.

Recoverable amount is the higher of fair value less costs of dispesal and value in use. In assessing value in
use, the estimated future cash flows are discounted to their present value using a pre-tax discount rate that reflects
current market assessments of the time value of money and the risks specific 10 the asset (or a cash-generating unit)
for which the estimates of future cash flows have not been adjusted.

If the recoverable amount of an asset (or a cash-gencrating unit) is estimated to be less than its carrying
amaunt, the carrying amount of the asset {or a cash-generating unit) is reduced to its recoverable amount. For
corporate assets or portion of corporate assets which cannot be allocated on a reasonable and consistent basis to a
cash-generating unit, the Group compares the carrying amount of a group of cash-generating units, including the
carrying amounts of the corporate assets or poertion of corporate assets allocated to that group of cash-gencrating
units, with the recoverable amount of the group of cash-generating units. In allocating the impairment loss, the
impairment loss is atlocated to the assets on a pro-rati basis based on the carrying amount of each asset in the unit
or the group of cash-generating units. The carrying amount of an asset is not reduced below the highest of its fair
value less costs of disposal (if measurable), its value in use (if determinable) and zero. The amount of the impairment
toss that would otherwise have been allecated to the asset is allocated pro rata to the other assets of the unit or the
group of cash-generating units. An impairment loss is recognized immediately in profit or loss,

Where an impairment loss subsequently reverses, the carrying amount of the asser (or cash-generating unit) is
increased to the revised estimate of its recoverable amount, but so that the increased carrying amount does not exceed
the carrying amount that would have been determined had no impairment loss been recognized for the asset (or 4
cash-generating unit, or the group of cash-generating units) in prior yeurs. A reversal of an impairment loss is
recognized immediately in profit or loss.

~1-17 -



Cash and cash equivalents
Cash and cash equivaients presented on the consolidated statements of financial position include:

. cash, which comprises of cash on hand and demand deposits, excluding bank balances that are subject
to regulatory restrictions that result in such balances no longer meeting the definition of cash; and

. cash equivalents, which comprises of short-term (generaliy with original maturity of three months or
less), highly liguid investments that are readily convertibic to & known amount of cash and which are
subject to an insignificant risk of changes in value. Cash equivalents are held for the purpose of meeting
short-term cash commitments rather than for investment or other purposes.

Inventories

Inventeries are stated at the lower of cost and net realizable value, Costs of inventories are determined on a
weighted average method. Net realizable value represents the estimated selling price for inventories less all estimated
costs of completion and costs necessary to make the sale. Costs necessary io make the sale include incremental costs
directly attributable to the sale and non-incremental costs for inventories which the Group must incur to make the
sale.

Financial instruments

Financial assets and finuncial liabilities are recognized when a group entity becomes a party to the contractual
provisions of the instrument. All regular way purchases or sales of financial assets are recognized and derecognized
on a trade date basis. Regular way purchases or sales are purchases or sales of financial assets that require delivery
of assets within the time frame established by regulation or convention in the market place.

Financial assets and financial liabilities are initially measured at fair value except for trade receivables arising
from contraces with customers which are initially measured in accordance with 1IFRS |5, Transaction costs that are
directly attributable to the acquisition or issue of financial assets and financial liabilities (other than financial asseis
or financial Habilities at fair value through profit or loss (*"FVTPL™)) are added io or deducted from the fair valse
of the financial assets or financial liabilities, as appropriate, on initial recognition. Transaction costs directly
attributable to the acquisition of financial assets or financial liabilities at FVTPL are recognized immediately in profit
or loss.

The effective interest method is a method of calcnlating the amortized cost of a financial asset or financial
liability and of allocating interest income and interest expense over the relevant period. The effective interest rate
is the rate that exactly discounts estimated future cash receipts and payments (including all fees and points paid or
received that form an integral part of the effective interest rate, transaction costs and other premiums or discounts)
through the expected life of the financial asset or financial liability, or, where appropriate, a shorter period, to the
nei carrying amount on initial recognition.

Financial assets
Classification and subsequent measurement of financial assets

Financial assets that meet the following conditicns are subsequently measured at amortized cost:

. the financial asset is held within a business model whose objective is 10 collect contractual cash flows:
and
. the contractual terms give rise on specified dates to cash flows that are solely payments of principal and

interest on the principal amount outstanding.
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All other financial assets arc subsequently measured at FVTPL.
(i) Amortized cost and interest income

Interest income is recognized using the cffective interest method for financial assets measured
subsequently at amortized cost. Interest income is calculated by applying the effective interest rate 1o the gross
carrying amount of a financial asset, except for financial assets that have subsequently become credit-impaired
(see below). For financial assets thut have subsequently become credit-impaired, interest income is recagnized
by applying the cffective interest rate to the amortized cost of the financial asset from the next reporting
period. 1f the credit risk on the credit-impaired financial instrument improves so that the financial asset is no
longer credit-impaired, interest income is recognized by applying the effective interest rate to the gross
carrying amount of the financizl asset from the beginning of the reporting period following the determination
that the asset is no longer credit-impaired.

(i)  Financial assets at FVTPL

Financial assets at FVTPL are measured at fair value at the end of each reporting period, with any fair
value gains or losses recognized in profit or loss, The net gain or loss recognized in profit or loss includes any
interest earned on the financial asset and is included in the “other gains and losses” line item.

Tmpairment of financial asseis subject to impairment assessment under IFRS 9

The Group performs impairment assessment under expected credit loss (“ECL") model on financial assets
(including trade receivables, other receivables, pledged bank deposits, time deposits and cash and cash equivalents)
which are subject to impairment assessment under IFRS 9. The amount of ECL is updated at cach reporting date to
reflect changes in credit risk since initial recognition.

Lifetime ECL represents the ECL that will result from all possible default events aver the expected life of the
relevant instrument. In contrast, 12-month ECL (“12m ECL”) represents the portion of lifetime ECL that is expected
to result from default events that are possible within 12 months after the reporting date. Assessments are done based
on the Group’s historical credit loss experience, adjusted for factors that are specific to the debtors, general econemic
conditions and an assessment of both the current conditions at the reporting date as well as the forecast of future
conditions.

The Group always recognizes lifetime ECL for trade receivables,

For ail other instruments, the Group measuves the loss allowance equal 1o 12m ECL, unless when there has
been a significant increase in credit risk since initizl recognition, in which ease the Group recognizes lifetime ECL.
The assessment of whether lifetime ECL should be recognized is based on significant increases in the likelihood or
risk of a default occurring since initinl recognition.

(i) Significant increase in credir risk

In assessing whether the credit risk has increased significantly since initial recognition, the Group
compares the risk of a default occurring on the financial instrumeat as at the reporting date with the risk of
a default occurring on the financial instrument as at the date of initiat recognition. In making this assessment,
the Group considers both quantitative and gualitative information that is reasonable and sspportable, including
historical experience and forward-looking information that is available without undue cost or effort.

In particular, the following informaiion is taken into account when assessing whether credit risk has
increased significantiy:

. an actual or expected significant deterioration in the financial instrument’s external (if available)
or internal credit rating;

. significant deterioration in external market indicators of credit risk, e.g. a significant increase in
the credit spread;

. existing or forecast adverse changes in business, financial or econcmic conditions that are
expected to cause a significant decrease in the debtor’s ability to meet its debt ebligations:
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. an sctual or expected significant deterioration in the operating results of the debtor:

. an actual or expected significant adverse change in the regulatory, economic, or technological
environment of the debtor that results in a significant decrease in the debtor’s ability to meet its
debt obligations.

Irrespective of the outcome of the ubove assessment, the Group presumes that the credit risk has
increased significantly since initial recognition when contractual payments are more than 30 days past due,
unless the Group has reasonable and supporiable information that demonstrates otherwise.

Despite the foregoing, the Group assumes that the credit risk on a debt instrument has not increased
significantly since initial recognition if the debt instrument is determined to have low credit risk at the
reporting date. A debt instrument is determined to have low credit risk if {i) it has a low risk of default, (ii)
the borrower has a strong capacity to meet its contractual cash flow obligations in the near term and (§i)
adverse changes in economic and business conditions in the longer term may, but wiil not necessarily, reduce
the ability of the borrower to fulfil its contractual cash flow obligations. The Group considers a debt instrument
1o have low credit risk when it has an internal or external credit rating of “investment grade” as per zlobally
understood definitions.

The Group regularly monitors the effectiveness of the criteria used to identify whether there has been
a significant increase in credit risk and revises them as appropriate to ensure that the criteria are capable of
identifying significant increase in credit risk before the amount becomes past due.

(i) Definition of default

For internal credit risk management, the Group considers an event of default occurs when information
developed internally or obtained from external sources indicates that the debtor is unlikely to pay its creditors,
including the Group, in full {without taking into account any collaterals held by the Group).

frrespective of the above analysis, the Group considers that default has occurred when a financial asset
is more than 90 days past due unless the Group has reasonable and supportable information to demonstrate that
a more lagging default criterion is more appropriate.

(iii}  Credit-impaired financial assets

A financial asset is credit-impaired when one or more events of default that have a detrimental impact
on the estimated future cash flows of that financial asset have occurred. Evidence that a financial asset is
credit-impaired includes observable data about the following events:

(a)  significant financial difficulty of the issuer or the borrower;
(b)  a breach of contract, such as a default or past due event;

(e}  the lender(s) of the borrower, for economic or contractual reasans relating to the borrower’s
financial difficulty, having granted to the borrower a concession(s) that the lender(s) would not
otherwise consider;

(d) it is becoming probable that the borrower will enter bankruptey or other financial reorganization:
or

(iv)  Write-off policy

The Group writes off a financial asset when there is information indicating that the counterparty is in
severe financial difficulty and there is no realistic prospect of recovery, for example, when the counterparty
has been placed under liguidation or has entered into bankruptey proceedings. Financial assets written off may
still be subject to enforcement activiries under the Group’s recovery procedures, tuking inte account legal
advice where appropriate. A writc-off constitutes a derecognition event. Any subsequent recoveries are
recognized in profit or loss,
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(v)  Measurement and recognition of ECL

The wmeasurement of ECL is a function of the probability of defaulr, loss given default (i.e. the
magnitide of the loss if there is a default) and the exposure at default. The assessment of the probability of
default and loss given default is based on historical data and forward-looking information. Estimation of ECL
reflects an unbiased and prabability-weighted amount that is determined with the respective risks of default
oceurring as the weights.

Generally, the ECL is the difference between all contractual cash flows that are due to the Group in
accordance with the contract and the cash flows that the Group cxpects to receive, discounted at the effective

interest rate determined at initial recognition,

Lifetime ECL for trade receivables are considered on a collective basis taking inte consideration internal
credit rating information and relevant credit information such as forward locking macroeconomic information.

Far collective assessment, the Group takes into consideration the following characteristics when
tformulating the grouping:

. Pase-due status; and
. Nature, size and industry of debtors.

The grouping is regularly reviewed by management to ensure the constituents of cach group continue
to share similar credit risk characteristics.

Interest income is calculated based on the gross carrying amount of the financial asset unless the
financial asset is credit-impaired, in which case interest income is calculated based on amortized cost of the
financial asset.

The Group recognizes an impairment gain or loss in profit or loss for 2l financial instruments by
adjusting their carrying amount, with the exception of trade receivables and other receivables where the
corresponding adjustment is recognized through a loss allowance account.

Derccognition aof financial assets

The Group derecognizes a financial asset only when the contractual rights 1o the cash flows from she asset
cxpire.

On derecognition of a financiul asset measured at amortized cost, the difference between the asset's carrying
amount and the sum of the consideration received and receivable is recognized in profit or loss.

Financial liabilities and equity
Classification as debt or equity

Debt and equity instruments are classified as either financizl libilities or as equity in accordance with the
substance of the contractual arrangements and the definitions of a financial lability and an equity instrument.

Equity instruments

An equity instrument is any contract that evidences a residual interest in the assets of an entity after deducting
all of its liabilities. Equity instruments issued by the Company are recognized at the proceeds received, net of direct
issue costs,

Financial Habilities

All financial liabilities the Group hold are subsequently measured at amortized cost using the effective interest
method.



Financial liabilities at amortized cost

Financial liabilities including borrowings and trade and other payables and amounts due to shareholders are
subsequently measured at amortized cost, using the effective interest method.

Derecognition of financial liabilities

The Group derecognizes financial lisbilities when, and only when, the Group's obligations are discharged,
cancelled or have expired. The difference between the carrying amount of the financial liability derecognized and the
consideration paid and payable is recognized in profit or loss.

Qffseiting a financial asset and a financial Nability

A financial asset and & financial liability are offset and the net amount presented in the consolidated statements
of financial position when, and only when, the Group currently has a legaily enforceable right to set off the
recognized amounts; and intends either to seitle on a2 net basis, or to realize the assct and settle the liability
simultanecusly.

5. CRITICAL ACCOUNTING JUDGEMENTS AND KEY SOURCES OF ESTIMATION UNCERTAINTY

In the application of the Group's accounting policies, which arc described in Note 4, the directers of the
Company are required to make judgements, estimates and assumptions about the carrying amounts of assets and
liubilities that are not readily apparent from other sources. The estimates and underlying assumptions are based on
historical experience and other factors that are considered to be relevant. Actual results may ditfer from these
estimates.

The estimates and underlying assumptions are reviewed on an on-going basis. Revisions to accounting
estimaies are recognized in the period in which the estimate is revised if the revision affects only that peried, or in
the period of the revision and future periods if the revision affects both current and future periods.

Critical judgements in applying accounting policies

The following are the critical judgements, apart from those involving estimations (see below), that the
directors of the Company have made in the process of applying the Group's accounting policies and that have the
most significant cffect on the amounts recognized in the Historical Financial Information.

Research and development expenses

Development expenses incurred on the Group's vaccine product pipelines are capitalised and deferred only
when the Group could demonstrate (i) the technical feasibility of complering the development of the relevant
intangible asset so that it will be available for use or sale; (ii) the Group’s intention to complete and the Group’s
ability to use or sell the asset; {iii) the ability to usc or sell the intangible asset; {iv) how the asset will generate future
cconomic benefits; (v) the availability of resources to complefe the pipeline; and (vi) the ability to measure reliably
the expenditure during the development. Development expenses which do not meet these criteria are expensed when
incurred. Management assesses the progress of cach of the research and development projects and determine whether
the criteria are met for capitalization. During the Track Record Period, research and development expenses on
research activities are recognized ns expenses in which they are incurred.

Key sources of estimation uncertainty
The followings arc the key assumptions concerning the future, and other key sources of estimation uncertainty

at the cnd of the reporting period that may have a significant risk of cuusing a material adjustment to the carrying
ameunts of assets and liabilities within the coming twelve months.
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Provision of ECL for trade receivables

Trade receivables are assessed to ECL collectively. In estimating ECL on trade receivables, the Group uses the
provision rates which are based on internal credit ratings and an assessment of both the current as well as the
forward-looking information that is available without undue cost or effort at the end of each year.

The provision of ECL is sensitive to changes in estimates. The information about the ECL and the Group's
trade receivables are disciosed in Notes 22 and 35.

Estimation of refund iiabilities

The Group recognizes a refund liability if the Group expects it would not be entitled to consideration of ail
goods delivered arising from the rights granted by the Group to the customers to returs some or all the goods
purchased. Upon revenue recognition, the Group estimates the future sales return of the goods sold and a
corresponding adjustment to revenue is recognized for those products expected to be returned, The estimation of sales
return requires the use of judgment and estimates. When determiniag the sales return of the goeds sold, the Company
considers various factors, including but not limited to market data and impact of seasonal effect for the products.
Where the actual return rate is different from the original estimate, such difference will be trued up in subsequent
periods. As at December 31, 2023 and 2024, and March 31, 2025, the Group recognized a refund liability of
approximately RMB 13,259,000 and RMB84,721,000 and RMB81,056,000, respectively.

Allowance for inventaries

The Group reviews the carrying amount of inventories at each balance sheet date to determine whether the
inventories are carried at the fower of cost and realizable value. In estimating the net realizable value of inventories,
the Group takes into accouni the expire dates of the inventorics and the estimation on future demand for the vaceine
products to reflect the best estimation of the net realizable value of inventories as at December 31, 2023 and 2024
and March 31, 2025. When preparing the forecast of future demand for vaceine products, the Group makes reference
to the current relevant vaccination policies, estimates the expected vaccination of population, and considers possible
technological iterations snd future uncertainties of the relevant demand. The abovesaid assumptions involves
management cstimates and judgements, and also with uncertainty. Changing the assumptions and estimates, could
affect the net realizable value and a reversal or further recognition of write-down may arise and be recognized in
profit or loss of future periods.

As at December 31, 2023 and 2024 and March 31, 2025, the carrying amounts of inventories were
RMB41,818,000, RMRB57,809,000 and RMBS87,372,000, respectively (net of write-down of RMB46,140,000,
RMB8,319,000 and RMB17,465,000).

Estimated impairment of property, plant and equipment, right-of-use assets and intangible assets

Property, plant and equipment, right-of-use ussets and intangible assets are stated at costs less accomulated
depreciation/amortization and impairment, if any. In determining whether an asset is impaired, the Group has to
exercise judgement and make estimation, particularly in assessing: (1) whether an event has occurred or any
indicators that may affect the asset value; (2) whether the carrying value of an asset can be supported by the
recoverible amount, in the case of value in use, the net present value of future cash flows which are estimated based
upon the continued usce of the asset; and (3) the appropriate key assumptions to be applied in estimating the
recoverable amounts including cash flow projections and an appropriate discouns rate. When it is not possible to
estimate the recoversble amount of an individual asset (including right-of-use assets), the Group estimates the
recoverable amount of the cash-generating unit to which the assets belongs, including allocation of corporate assets
when 4 reasonable and consistent basis of allocation can be established, otherwise recoverable amount is determined
at the smallest group of cash-generating units, for which the refevant corporate assets have been allocated. Changing
the assumptions and estimates, including the discount rates or the growth rate in the cash flow projections, could
materially affect recoverable amounts.

During the Track Record Period, the management of the Group assessed whether an event has occurred or any
indicaters that may affect the asset value. At the end of each reporting period, according to JAS 36 Impairment of
Assets, the Group reviews its property, plant and equipmnent, right-of-use assets and intangible assets ready for use
to determine whether there is any indication that an impairment loss may have occurred. 1f any such indication exists,
the recoverable amount of the relevant asset is estimated in order to determine the extent of the impairment loss. As
at December 31, 2023, 2024 and March 31, 2025, considering evidence available from external and internal sources
of information, as well as other evidence, the management of the Group concluded that no indication of impairment
for property, plant and equipment, right-of-use assets and intangible assets ready for use was identified. Based on the
assessment, no impairment incurred on property, plant and equipment, right-of-use assets and intangible assets ready
for use. As for intangible assets not ready for use, which amounted to RMB 18,000,000 as at December 31, 2023, 2024
and March 31, 20235, respectively, the management of the Group performed impairment testing annnally, which was
further disclosed in Note 19, As at March 31, 2025, the management assessed whether an event has occorred or any
indicators on the respective cash-generating unit that indicates the carrying amount of the cash-generating unit
exceeds its recoverablie amount. As & resnlt, no impairment assessment as at March 31, 2025 was performed. The
management concluded that the recoverable amounts of intangible assets not ready for use were higher than the
carrying amounts. Based on the testing, no iinpairment loss has been recognized on intangible assets not ready for
USC.
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6. REVENUE

(i) Disaggregation of revenue from contracts with the customers

Year ended December 31, Threee months ended March 31,
2023 2024 2024 2025
RMEB'000 RMB'000 RMB'60G RMB'000

(unaudited)

Type of goods
Sales of vaceine products . . . .. ... ... ... 52,168 259.612 306 413

Geographical market
Mainland China . . . . . ... ... . L. 52,168 259,612 306 413

Timing of revenue recognition
Atapointintime ............ . ..... 52,168 259,612 306 413

(ii) Performance obligations for contracts with customers and revenue recognitien policies

Revenue from the sales of vaccine products is recognized when control of the vaccine products has transferred,
being when the geods have been shipped to the specific location and accepted by customers. The normal credit term
is mainly G te 9 months upen delivery,

At the point of sale, 4 refund liability and a corresponding adjustment to revenue are made for those products
expected to be returned. The Group estimates the future sales return of the products sold based on varions factors,
including but not limited to market data and impact of seasenal effect of the preducts. The Group’s right to recover
the product when customers exercise their right is recognized as a right to returned goods asset and a corresponding
adjustment to cost of sale. In consideration that the returned goods might be expired or about to expire, the
management has written off the returned geods and therefore the Group recognized returned goods asset amounting
to nil for the Track Record Period.

(iii) Transaction price allocated to the remaining performance obligation for contracts with customers

All the contracts are for periods of one year or less, As the Group applics the practical expedient in IFRS 15,
the transaction price allocated to these unsatisfied contracts is not disclosed.

7. SEGMENTS INFORMATION

For the purpose of resource allocation and assessment of segment performance, the chicef operating decision
maker (“CODM?”), which is also identified as the chief executive officer of the Group, reviews the overail results and
financial position of the Group as a whole which are prepared based on the same accounting policies as set out in
Note 4. Accordingly, the Group has only one single operating segment,

Geographical information

The Group’s operations are located in PRC. As at December 31, 2023 and 2024 and March 31, 2025, all
non-current assets were located in the PRC.

Information about major customers

Revenue from customers of the corresponding years/periods contributing over 10% of the total revenue of the
Group are as follows:

Year cnded December 31, Three months ended Mareh 31,
2023 2024 2024 2025
RMBOOD RMEB'00 RMB'G00 RMB'000
(unaudited)
Customer A . .., . ... ....... N/A N/A NIA 97

Revenne from vaccine products.



10.

OTHER INCOME

Year ended December 31,

Three months ended dareh 31,

2023 2024 2024 2025
RMB 000 RAMB 000 RAME'000 RAB 000
{tinaudited)

Government grants related to

—Income (Note) . .................. 10,418 21,983 13,001 4,507

—Assets (Note 30) ... ... ... L ... 509 1,772 1,138 211

Interest income from banks. . . . ... ...... 3,158 474 221 67

Others. . ... ... ... . ... .. ... . ... 117 137 137 181
14,202 24,366 14,497 4,966

Note: The amount represents various unconditional subsidies received from the PRC local government
anthorities as incentives mainly for the Group’s research and development activities.

OTHER GAINS AND LOSSES

Yeiar ended Decemmber 31,

Threec months ended Mazrch 31,

2023 2024 2024 2025
RME'O00 RMB 60D RMB'060 RME'G00
(unandired)
Fair value change of financial assets at
FVTPL. . .. ... e 1,352 241 113 9
Net loss on disposal of property, plant
and equipment . .. ... ... L. (40 (1,057) - -
1,312 (816) 113 9
FINANCE COSTS
Year ended December 3, Three months ended March 31,
2023 2024 2024 2025
RABODO RMEBTOND RMB'G0G RMB'00G
(unaudited)
Interest expense on
— Lease liabilities . .. ... ..., .. 2,435 2,365 616 547
— Bank borrowings .. ... ... ... 4,769 22,196 4,332 7,140
— Amounts due to shareholders, . . . - [73 - 59
7,204 24,734 4,948 1,746
Less: intercst expense capitalized in
qualifying assets (Note) ... ... {595) (7,021) (1,368) (2,603)
6,609 17,713 3,580 5,141

Note: Interest expense capitulized arose on specific borrowings and are calculated by applying capitalization
rates of 3.79%, 3.69%, 3.80% (unaudited) and 3.39% per annum during the years ended December 31,
2023 and 2024 and the three months ended March 31, 2024 and 2025, respectively.



L.OSS BEFORE TAX

Loss before tax over the Track Record Peried has been arrived at after charging (crediting):

Yeur ended December 31, Three months ended Murch 31,
2023 2024 2024 2023
RMB'000 RMB'000 RMD'000 RMB000

(uaaudited}

Depreciation of property, plant and equipment . . . 39,378 49,039 10,720 14,664
Depreciation of right-of-use assets . . . .. ... .. 7.559 8,385 2,096 2,096
Amaortization of intangible assets . . . .. ... ... 1,039 1,778 405 477
Total depreciation and amortization. . . . ... ... 47,976 39,202 13,221 17,237
Capitalized in inventories . . . .. ... ........ {(11,900) (23,845} (5,368) (6,927)
36,076 35,357 7,353 19,310
Listing eXpenses . . . ... .. - 8,542 - 5,744
Auditor’s remuneration . ... ... ... L. 967 771 - 320
Research and development costs recognized as an
CXPEUISE . . o v e e 283,159 205,569 43,205 46,514

Cost of inventorics recognized as cost of sales
(including write-down of inventories amounting
to RMB45,698,000, RMB 18,095,000 and
RMB 10,000 (unaudited) and reversal of write-

down of RMB779,000 respectively) . . ... ... 56,891 89,854 943 24
Directors and snpervisers’ remuneration (Note 13) 19,535 16,340 4,838 2,193
Other staff costs:

— Salaries and other benefits. . . .. .. ... ... 93,855 100,580 24,937 25,244

- Retirement benefit scheme contributions . . . . 12,251 14,051 3,502 3,494

— Performance<based bonus . .. .. ... .. ... 24,563 18,820 3,595 4,758

- Share-based payments . ... ... ........ 35,655 32,046 11,037 2,073

185,859 181,837 47,909 37,762
Cupitalized in inventories . .............. (21,475) {49,039} (13,351 (13,065)
Cupitalized in property, plant and equipment . . . . (2,143) (1,941} (520) (384)
162,241 130,857 34,038 24,313

Impairment losses, under expected credit loss
model, net of reversal. . . ... ... L. L.
Trade receivables . . . ... ... ... ... ...... 48 G6 2D (25)
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12. INCOME TAX EXPENSE

Under the Law of the PRC on Enterprise Income Tax (“EIT Law™) and Implementation Regulation of the EIT
Eaw, the statutory tux rate of the Company and its PRC subsidiary is 25% during the Track Record Period.

Pursuant to Caishui 2018 circular No. 99, the Compuny and its PRC subsidiary enjoyed super deduction of
100% on qualifying research and development expenditures throughout the Track Record Period.

During the year ended December 31, 2024, the Company’s subsidiary operating in the PRC was accredited as
“High and New Technology Enterprise” and was therefore entitled to a preferential tax rate of 15% for a period of
3 years from 2024 to 2026.

Income iax expense for the Track Record Period can be reconciled to loss before tax per the consolidated
statements of profit or loss and other comprehensive income as follows:

Year endled Decemnher 31, Three months ended March 31,
2023 2024 2024 2025
RAB000 RMB'000 REL'000 RMB000
(unatdited)
Loss before tax . .................. (424,741 (258,716) (63,3313 (87,317}
Tax at the applicable PRC tax rate of 25%. . . {106,185) (64,679) (15,833) (21,829)
Tax effect of expenses not deductible for tax
PUIPOSES .« o v oo it i e e e e e 17,070 11,539 3,894 843
Effect of additional deduction on rescarch and
development expense . . ... .. ... .... 49,757) (34,327 (9,429) (E1,133)
Utilization of tax losses previously not
recognized . . .. ... L L., - (4,157 (573) -
Tax at concessionary rate . . . ... ....... - (2,337 (249) 1,567
Tax effect of tax losses not recognized . . . . . 125,996 54177 21,215 32,715
Tax effect of deductible temporary differcnces
not recognized. . ... ... ... ... ... .. 12,876 39,784 975 934
Utilization of deductible temporary
differences previously not recognized . . . . - - - (3,037)

Income tax expense for the year/period. . . . . - - - -

13. DIRECTORS’, CHIEF EXECUTIVE’S EMOLUMENTS AND FIVE HIGHEST PAID INDIVIDUALS

During the Track Record Period, directors’ and chief executive’s remuneration disclosed pursuant to the
spplicuble Listing Rules and the Hong Kong Companies Ordinance, is as follows:

Retirement Performance
Salaries and  benefit scheme  based honus Share-hased
Director's fee  other benefits  contribufions {Note i} payments Total
RMEB 000 RMEB060 RMB 000 RMB 000 RMB 0G50 RME'000
For the year ended
December 31, 2023
Executive directors:
Mr. An (Note i) . ... .. - 2,476 68 419 7,604 10,567
Ms. Li Runxiang . . .. .. - 803 68 21l 1,995 3,077
Mr. He Yiming .. ... .. - 556 64 144 1,225 1,989
Non-executive directors:
Mr. Yu Jianlin. . . ... .. - - — - - -
Mr. Cheng Qianwen . . . . - - - - - -
Independent non-executive
directors:

Mr. Li Xiangming . . . .. 120 - - - - 120
Mr. Chen Chenbei . . . .. 120 - - - - 120
Ms. Li Xiaoqing . ... .. 120 - - - - 120
Supervisors:
Mr. Tao Hang . . . .. ... e 762 68 203 1,095 2,128
Mr. Wang Shuguang . . . . - - - - - -
Mr. Feng Hao . . . ... .. - 337 46 78 953 1,414

360 4,934 314 1,055 12,872 19,535




For the year ended
December 31, 2024
Executive directors:
Mr, An (Notedd) ... ...
Ms. Li Rumxiang . . .. ..
Mr. He Yiming . . ... ..
Non-executive directors:
Mr. Yu Jianlin. . . ... ..
Mr. Cheng Qianwen . . . .
Independent non-executive
directors:
Mr, Li Xiangming . .. ..
Mr. Chen Chenbei . . . ..
Ms. Li Xiaoging . ... ..
Supervisors:
Mr. TaoHang . . . ... ..
Mr. Wang Shuguang . . . .
Mr, Feng Hao . . . .. ...

For the period ended
March 31, 2025
Executive directors:
Mr. An (Note it} . .....
Ms. Li Runxiang . . .. ..
Mr. He Yiming . . ... ..
Non-executive directors:
Mr. Yu Jianlin. . . ... ..
Mr, Cheng Qianwen . . . .
{ndependent non-executive
direciors:
Mr. Li Xiangming . . . ..
Mr. Chen Chenbei , . . . .
Ms. Li Xiaoging . ... ..
Supervisors:
Mr. Wang Wei (Note iii} .
Mr. Tac Hang (Note iii)
Mr, Wang Shuguang . . . .
Mr. Feng Hao . ... ...

Retirement Performance
Sularies und  Dbenefit scheme based honus Share-based
Dircctor's fee  other benefits  conbribuiions (Note i} payments Total
RMB'000 RAIB D00 RAMB'060 RMB'000 RMB 000 RAMB'000

- 2,326 Tt 416 5414 8,227

- 803 71 143 1,333 2,350

- 551 66 118 1,207 1,942
120 - - - - 120
120 - - - - 120
120 - - - - 129
- 762 71 149 1,000 1,982

- 333 45 68 1,033 1,479
360 4,775 324 894 9,987 16,340
- 573 18 92 307 990

- 182 - 30 - 212

- 138 18 20 246 422
30 - - - - 30
30 - - - - 30
30 - - - - 30
- 58 10 8 25 101

- 13 1 2 22 38

- 84 Il 11 234 340
90 1,048 38 163 834 2,193
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Retirement Performance
Sularies and  benefld seheme  based bonus Share-based

Direetor’s fee  other benelits  contributions (Note 1) payments Totat
RMB 000 RMB000 RMB'000 RME'000 RME'O00 RMB 000
trnandited) (unaudited) funciiedited) {unendited) (unaudited) {nnandited)
For the period ended
March 31, 2024
Executive directors:
Mr. Ar (Note &i) ... ... - 604 18 100 1,864 2,586
Ms. Li Runxiang . .. ... - 201 18 30 497 746
Mr. He Yiming . . ... .. - 137 15 13 373 538
Non-execurive directors:
Mr. Yu Jiankin., . . .. ... - - - - - -
Mr. Cheng Qianwen . . . . - - o - - -
Independent non-executive
directors:

Mr. Li Xiangming . . ... 30 - - - - 30
Mr. Chen Chenbei . . . . . 30 - - - - 30
Ms. Li Xiaoging . ... .. 30 - - - - 30
Supervisors:
Mr. Tao Hang .. ... .. - 191 18 29 249 487
Mr. Wang Shuguang . . . . - - - - - -
Mr, Feng Hao . ...... - &3 I1 11 286 391

90 1.216 80 183 3,269 4,838

Notes:

1) Performance-based bonus is determined based on their duties and responsibifities of the relevant
individuals within the Group and the Group’s performance.

(i) Mr. An is the Chief Executive Officer of the Company.

(iii) Mr. Tao Hang resigned as a Supervisor on January 8, 2025 and Mr. Wang Wei was assigned as
Supervisor on January 2, 2025.

The executive directors’ and chief executive’s emoluments shown above were paid for their services in
connection with the management of the affairs of the Company and the Group during the Track Record Period.

Five highest paid individuals

During the Track Record Period, the five highest paid employces of the Group included 1 director of the
Company, details of whose emoluments are sct out above. Details of the remuneration of the remaining 4 individuals
are as follows (unaudited for the three months ended March 31, 2024):

Yeur ended December 31, Three months ended March 3§,
2023 2024 2024 2025
RMB'000 RMB'000 RAB 000 RMB'00G

(unaudited)

Salaries and other benefits . . ., ., . 5,630 5,167 1,408 1,323
Performance based bonus . . . . ., .. 2,713 2,278 485 403

Retirement benefit scheme
contributions . . . . ... .. ... .. 114 94 26 29
Share-based payments . . . .. ... .. 9,081 9,246 2,299 2,274
17,538 16,785 4,221 4,029
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14.

15.

The numbers of the five highest paid individuals (including directors of the Company) are within the following
bands (presented in Hong Kong Dollar (“HKS™):

Year ended December 31,

Three monrths ended March 31,

2023 2024

2024

2025

(tenquedited)

No. of emplayees

Nil to HK$1,000,000. . .. .. ... .. - -
HKS$1,000,001 to HK§1,500,000. . . . - -
HK$2,500,001-HKS$3,000,000 . .. .. - -
HK$3,500,001-HK$4,000,000 . .. .. 1

HK34,000,001-HK$4,500,000 . . . .. - 1
HK34,500,001-HKS$5,000,000 . .. .. ] -
HK$5,000,001-HKS$5,500,000 . .. .. 1 2
HK3$5,500,001-HKS$6,000,000 . .. .. 1 -
HE3$8,500,001-HK$9,000,000 . .. .. - 1
HK3$11,500,001-HK$12,000,000 . . . . 1 -

5 3

—_ ) —

I | ¢

tte gl

During the Track Record Period, no emoluments were paid by the Group to the management of the Group or
the five highest paid employees of the Group as an inducement to join or upon joining the Group or as compensation

for loss of oftice. None of the management of the Group waived or agreed to waive any emoluments during the Track
Record Period.

During the year, certain non-director and non-chief executive highest paid employees were granted restricted
shares, in respect of their services to the Group under the restricted shares scheme of the Company. Details of the
resiricted shares scheme are set out in Note 31,

LLOSS PER SHARE

The calculation of the basic and diluted loss per share attributable to owners of the Company is based on the
following data:

Year ended December 31,

Three montles ended March 31,

2023 2024 2024 2025
RMB'060
RMB'G00 RMB'00O (incindited) RMB'GO0

Loss (RMB*000):
Loss for the year/period attributable to owners

of the Company for the purpose of

calculating basic loss per share . . . . . .. .. (424,741) (258,716) (63,331) (87.317)
Number of shares (C000):
Weighted average number of ordinary shares

for the purpose of basic loss per share . . . . 360,000 360,000 360,000 360,000
Loss per share (RMB)
~Basicand diluted . . . . .. ... ... .. (1.18) {0.72) (0.18) {0.24)

The basic loss per share is caleulated based on the loss attributable to the owners of the Company and the
weighted average number of ordinary shares.

DIVIDENDS

No dividend was declared or paid by the Company in respect of the Track Record Period.
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16.

PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT

The Group

COST
As at January 1, 2023.
Additions
Transfers from
construction in
progress. . .. ... .
Disposals

As at December 31,

Transfers from
construction
in progress . . .. ..
Disposals

As at December 31,

Transfers from
construction in
PIOETESS. . . . . . . .

As at March 31, 2025,

DEPRECIATION

As at Janunary 1, 2023,

Provided for the year .

Eliminated on
disposals

As at December 31,

Provided for the year .
Eliminated on
disposals

As at December 31,

As at March 31, 2025.

CARRYING
VALUES
As at December 31,

As at March 31, 2025.

Eleetronic

devices,
furnilure
Production and office Motor Leaschold Construetion
Tacilities Buildings ecquipment vehieles improvements  in progress Totad
RA{B'000 RMB'OD0 RMB'O00 RMB 000 RMIG00 RMIZ'000 RMEB'000

291,181 162,817 7,333 1,867 14,087 118,119 535,404
11,738 1,743 153 864 148 286,854 301,500
45,947 2,437 2,398 - 2,200 (52,982) -
(65) - (8) - - - {13)
348,80t 106,997 2,876 2,731 16,435 351,991 836,831
6,062 4,549 208 - 300 243,385 254,504
157,556 25,846 - - -~ (183,402 -
{2,682) - - - - - (2,682)
509,737 137,392 10,084 2,731 16,735 411,974 1,088,653
I21 - - - - 13,692 13,813
1,915 - L5 - - (1,930) -
511,773 137,392 13,099 2,73t 16,735 423,736 1,102,466
37,217 12,601 3,338 589 2,959 - 56,704
30,505 5,014 1,698 382 1,779 - 39,378
(29) - (4) - - - (33)
67,693 17,615 5,032 971 4,738 - 96,049
39,281 5,738 1,510 519 1,991 - 49.039
(1,125) - - - - - (1,125)
105,849 23,353 6,542 1,490 6,729 - 143,963
12,125 1,631 273 130 505 - 14,664
117,974 24,984 6,815 1,620 7,234 - 158,627
281,108 89,382 4,844 1,760 11,697 351,691 740,782
403,888 114,039 3,542 1,241 10,006 411,974 944,690
393,799 112,408 3,284 LTl 9,501 423,736 943.839
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The Company

CcOosT

As at Jannary 1, 2023,

Additions . . ... ...

Transfers from
construction in
progress. . . ... ..

Disposals .. ... ...

As at Pecember 31,
2023, ... ... ..
Additions . . . ... ..
Transfers from
construction
in progress . ... ..
Disposals .. ......

As at December 31,

Transfers from
construction in
progress. . . ... ..

As at March 31, 2025,

DEPRECIATION

As at lanuary 1, 2023,

Provided for the year .

Eliminated on
disposals ... ....

As at December 31,

Provided for the year .
Eliminated on
disposals . . ... ..

As at December 31,

As at March 31, 2025.

CARRYING
VALUES

As at December 31,
2023, ... ... ...

As at December 31,

As at March 31, 2025,

Electronic

deviees,
Furniture
Praduction and office Maotor Leasehold Construction
facilities Buildings equipnient vehicles improvements  in progress Totnl
RMB 0G0 RMB'000 RAMB'000 RMB'000 RMA'GO0 RMB'00G RMB 000
263,870 102,817 6,763 1,156 3,701 117,877 496,184
11,738 1,743 152 = - 267,613 281,246
29,479 2,437 1,583 - - (33,499) -
(65) - (8) - - - {73)
305,022 106,997 8,490 [,156 3,701 351,991 771,357
6,062 4,549 208 - 300 239,285 250,404
[53,456 25,846 - - - (179,302) -
(2,682) - - - - - (2,682)
461,858 137,392 8,698 I, E56 4,001 411,974 1,025,079
121 - - - - 13,692 13,813
1,915 - 15 - - (1,930) -
463,894 137,392 8,713 1,156 4,001 423,736 1,038,892
35412 12,608 3,238 421 1,431 - 53,103
27,143 5,014 1,502 220 506 - 34,385
(29) - 4) - - - (33)
62,526 17,613 4,736 G41 1,937 - 87,455
34,856 5,738 1,247 220 535 - 42,590
(1,125} - - - - - (1,125)
56,257 23,353 5,983 86l 2,472 - 128,926
10,987 1,631 207 55 141 - 13,021
107,244 24,984 6,190 916 2,613 - 141,947
242 496 89,382 3,754 515 i,764 351,991 689.902
365,601 114,039 2,715 295 1,529 411,974 896,153
356,650 [12,408 2,523 240 1,388 423,736 896,945
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The above items of property, plant and equipment, except for construction in progress, are depreciated an a
steaight-line basis over the following estimated useful lives after tuking into account their residual values:

Uscful lives

Residual value

Production facilities. . . ... ..... ... .. ... .. 10 years

Buildings . . .... . ... ... ... . ... . ..., 20 years

Electronic devices, furniture and office equipment . . 5 years

Motor vehicles. . . .. ... ... .. o . 5 years

Leasehold improvements, . . ... ... ... .. .... Over the shorter of the
relevant lease terms or
10 vears

As at December 31, 2023 and 2024 and March 31, 2025, buildings amounted RMB89,382,000,
RMB114,039,000 and RMB112,408,000, and construction in progress amounted RMB44,798,000, nil and nil of the

Company were pledged to secure banking borrowings, respectively.
17,  RIGHT-OF-USE ASSETS

The Group

Leaschold lands Office buildings Total
RMB000 RMB 000 RMB000

Carrying amount

Asat January 1,2023 . ..., ... . ... ..., 36,479 39,184 75,663
Additions . . . ... L 9,290 17,082 26,372
Depreciation charge . . . ... ... .......... (843) (6,716) (7.559)
As at December 31, 2823, . .. .. ..., 44,926 49,550 04,476
Depreciation charge . . . . ... .. ...... ..., (968) (7.417) (8,385)
As at December 33,2024 . ... ... L 0, 43,958 42,133 86,091
Depreciation charge. . . .. ... . ... .. ..., (241) (1,835) (2,096)
As at March 31,2025 . . . ... ... ........ 43,717 40,278 83,995

The Company

Carrying amount
Asat January 1, 2023 . . . . L e
Additions . . . . . e e

As at December 31, 2023 . . . . . L L .
Depreciation charge. . . .. . ... ... ...

As at December 31, 2024, . ... L. L
Depreciation charge. . . . . ... . ... L L

AsatMarch 31,2025, . .. ... .. e

~133-

Leaschold tands

RMB'00G

36,479
9,290
(843)

44,926
(968)

43,958
(241)

43,717




Year ended December 31, Three months ended Mareh 31,

2023 2024 2024 2025

RMB 000 RMB 000 RAB0060 RMB'O0D
{rnaudited)

Expenses relating to short-term leuses 3,386 1,989 536 318
Total cash cutflow for leases. . . . . . 10,708 10,356 2,553 1,717

During the Track Record Period, the Group leased various properties for its operating activities. Lease
contracts are entered into for fixed term of 3 to 6 years. Lease terms are negotiated on an individual basis and contain
different terms and conditions. In determining the lease term and assessing the length of the non-cancellable period,
the Group applies the definition of a contract and determines the period for which the contract is enforceable.

The Group regularly entered into short-term leases for equipment and staff quarters. As at December 31, 2023
and 2024 and March 31, 2025, the portfolic of short-term leases is similar to the portfolio of short-term leases to
which the short-termn lease expense disclosed above.

In addition, the Greup owns several industrial buildings where its manunfacturing facilities are primarily
located and office buildings. The Group is the registered owner and has made lump sum payments upfront o
government for leasehold lands. The Group has obtained the Tand use right certificates for all such leasehold lands.

Restrictions or covenants on leases

As at December 31, 2023 und 2024 and March 31, 2025, the Group has pledged land use rights of
RMB35,697,000, RMB35,111,000 and RMB34,720,000, respectively, as collateral under the Group’s borrowing
arrangements.

As at December 31, 2023 and 2024 and March 31, 2025, lease liabilities of RMB355,275,000, RMB49,273,000
and RMB48,421,000 are recognized with related right-of-use assets of RMB49,550,000, RMB42,133,000 and
RMB40,278,000, respectively. The lease agreements do not impose any covenants other than the security interests
in the leased assets that are held by the lessor, Except for land use rights, leased assets may not be used as security
for borrowing purposes.

18. INTANGIBLE ASSETS

The Grouyp and the Company

Development Computer
Patent casls seftware Toial
RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB 000 RMB'000

COST
As at January 1, 2023 .. ... .. .. - 10,000 1,613 11,613
Additions . . . . ... L, 4,215 8.000 4,375 16,590
As at December 31, 2023 ., ... .. 4,215 18,000 5,988 28,203
Additions . . . . .. ... ..., 227 - 367 594
As at December 31, 2024 and March

31,2025 ... 4,442 18,000 6,355 28,797
AMORTISATION
As at Jamoary 1, 2023 .. ... ... - - 320 320
Provided forthe year. . . .. ... .. 166 - 873 1,039
As at December 31, 2023 . . ... .. 166 - 1,193 1,359
Provided for the year. . . .. ... .. 432 - 1,346 1,778
As at December 31, 2024 . .. .. .. 598 - 2,539 3,137
Provided for the peried. . . . ... .. 114 - 363 477
As at March 31,2025 .. .. ... .. 712 - 2,902 3,614
CARRYING AMOUNT
As at Pecember 38,2023 . ... ... 4,049 18,000 4,795 26,844
As at December 31, 2024 . . ... .. 3,844 18,000 3816 25,660
As at March 31,2025 ... ... ... 3,730 18,000 3453 25,183

|
|
II
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The above intangible assets have finite useful lives. Such intungible assets are amortized on a straight-line
basis over the following periods:

Uselul lives

Patent . . o 10 years
Computer SOfLWAre . . . . . . . . 5 years
Development costs . . . . . . . . . Over the residual

useful life when
ready for use

During the year ended December 31, 2023, the Group capitalized in-license related payment amounting to
RMB8,000,000, with the goal of developing and commercialising a vaccine product. Such intangible assets have
finite useful lives and will start to amortise after ready for use.

As development costs are not ready for use up to December 31, 2023 and 2024 and March 31, 2025 and the
date of this report, the management of the Group performed impairment testing annually, which was further disclosed
in Note 19. In the opinion of directors of the Company, no impairment loss was recognized in profit or loss during
the years ended December 31, 2023 and 2024 und the three months ended March 31, 2025.

19.  IMPAIRMENT TESTING ON INTANGIBLE ASSETS NOT READY FOR USE

Impairment test

Development costs, which is intangible assets not yet ready for use, is tested impairment annually based on
the recoverable amount of the cash-generating unit to which the intangible asset is related. The appropriate
cash-generating unit is at the pipeline level.

Impairment review on the development costs of the Group has been conducted by the management of the
Group by engaging an independent qualified professional valuer, PG Advisory, to estimate the recoverable amount
of the cash-gencrating unit at the end of each year. The address of PG Advisory is Room 2107-09, East Tower,
Hongshoufang, No. 1143, Xikang Road, Putuo District, Shanghai. For the purpose of impairment review, the
recoverable amount of the cash-generating unit is determined based on a value in use calculation by using the
discounted cash flow approach.

With the assistance of PG Advisory, the management determined the recoverable amount of the above
cash-generating unit based on the foillowing approach and the key assumptions:

. The cash-generating unit will generate cash inflows starting from year 2028 based on the timing of
clinical development and regulatory approval, commercial ramp up to reach expected revenue potential
till year 2033, and up to the end of the exclusivity for the product;

. The management considers the length of the forecast period is appropriate because it generally takes
longer for a biopharma company to generate positive cash flows, compared 1o companies in other
industries, especially when the products related 1o development costs are under clinical trial. Hence, the
management believes that a forecast period for the cash generating usit longer than five years is
justifiable and consistent with industry practice;

. The expected market penctration rate was based on the expected selling condltmm considering the
features of marketing and technology development;

. The discount rate used is pre-tax and reflect specific risks relating to the relevant products that would
be considered by market participants; and

. The expected success rate of commercialization by reference to practices of phurmaceutical industries,
development of technologies and related regulations from administrations.



The key parameters used for recoverable amount calculations arve as follows:

As al As g
December 34, 2023 December 31, 2024
RMB000 RMRB'00D
Expecied annual growth rates till 2033 . . .. ... ... ... .. Goud 3% 5%-43%
Pre-tax discount rate . . . . ... ... ... . ... . 15.2% 15.3%
Long-term growth rate . . .. ... ...... ... ......... 2% 2%

The revenue growth rate for the forecast period and budgeted gross margin were determined by the
management based on their expectation for market and product development.

Based on the result of the development costs impairment testing, the recoverable amount of the cash-
generating unit exceeded its carrying amount as at December 31, 2023 and 2024. Thus, ne impairment is noted.

Impairment test - sensitivity analysis

The management of the Group performed sensitivity test by increasing of 1% pre-tax discount rate or
decreasing of 5% expected revenue growth rate, which are the key assumptions determine the recoverable amount
of the intangible asset, with all other variables held constant. The impacts on the amount by which the intangible
asset’s recoverable amount above its carrying amount (headroom) are as below:

As at As at
December 31, 2023 December 31, 2024
RMB'000 RMB060
Headroom. . ............ e e e 67,000 112,000
Impact by increasing pre-tax discount vate of 16, . .. . . . .. (18,000 (20,000)
Impact by decreasing expected annual growth rates of 5% . . . {5,000) (7,000)

If the pre-tax discount rate used as at December 31, 2023 and 2024 was changed to 18.77% and 24.74%,
respectively, while other parameters remain constant, the recoverable amount of the cash-generating unit would equal
its carrying amount. If the annual revenue growth rate used as at DPecember 31, 2023 and 2024 was decreased by 15%
and 23%, respectively, while other parameters remain constant, the recoverable amount of the cash-generating unit
would cqual its carrying amount. Management believes that any reasonably possible changes in key assumptions
would not lead to impairment as of December 31, 2023 and 2024.

As at March 31, 2025, the management is not aware of any significant adverse changes on the respective
cash-generating unit that indicates the carrying amount of the cash-generating unit exceeds its recoverable amount.
As a result, no impairment assessment as at March 31, 2025 was performed.

20. DEFERRED TAXATION
The Group

For the purpose of presentation in the consolidated stazements of financial position, certain deferred tax assets
and liabilities have been offset. The following is the analysis of the deferred tax balances for financial reporting
PUTPOSEs:

As at December 31, As at Mareh 31,
2023 2024 2025
RMB600 RMB'000 RAMB'000
Deferred tax assets . .. ... ... ... ... ... 12,388 6,320 6,042
Deferred tax liabilities . . . . ... ... .. ... .. {12,388) (6,320) (6,042)
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21.

The following are the major deferred tax balances recognized and movements thereon during the Track Record
Period:

As at January 1,

As at March 31, 2025

Right-of-use assets Lease Habilities Fotnl
RMB'0600 RMB'000 RMEB'0UD

2023 ... L. (9,796) 9,796 -

(Charged) credited to profitorloss ... ... ... (2,592) 2,592 -
As at December 31,2023 . ... ... ... ... .. (12,388) 12,388 -
Credited (charged) to profitorloss .. ... .... 6,068 (6,068) -
As at December 3£, 2024 ... ... ... ... ... (6,320) 6,320 -
Credited {charged) 1o profitorloss . ... ..... 278 (278) -
................. (6,042) 6,042 -

As at December 31, 2023 and 2024 and March 31, 2025, the Group has unused tax losses of
RMB1,257,213,000, RMBI,389,572,000 and RME1,399,978,000 and deductible temporary differences of
RMB78,700,000, RMB239,570,000 and RMB232,271,000, respectively. No deferred tax asset has been recognized
in respect of the tax losses or temporary differences due to the unpredictability of future profit sireams.

The unused tax losses will be carried forward and expire in years us follows:

INVENTORIES

The Group

Raw materials .

Less: ellowance

The Company

Raw materials .
Work in progress
Finished goods.

Less: allowance

As at December 31,

As at March 31,

2023 2024 2025
RMB GO0 RMB'000 RMB'GOG

..................... 56,637 - -
..................... 130,555 126,375 -
..................... 258,911 236,063 236,063
..................... 307,131 306,447 306,447
..................... 503,979 503,979 503,979
..................... - 216,708 216,708
..................... - - 136,781

1,399,978

1,257,213

1,389,572

As ot December 31,

As at March 31,

2023 2024 2025
RMB'000 RMB'000 RMEO00
..................... 38,278 33,683 35,997
Work in progress . .. ... ... o 3,438 24,350 51,656
Finished goods. . . .. .. ... ... ... . .... 46,242 18,095 17,184
87,958 76,128 104,837
..................... (46,140) {18,319) {17,465)
41,818 57,809 87,372
As at December 31, As at March 31,
2023 2024 2025
RMB'000 RALB' 060 RMB 000
..................... 35,572 31,186 33,565
.................... 3,438 24,350 51,656
..................... 46,242 [8,095 17,184
85,252 73,631 102,405
..................... (46,132) (18,249 (17,404)
39,120 55,382 85,004
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TRAPE RECEIVABLES

The Group and the company

As at Decembor 31, As at Mareh 31,
2023 2024 2025
RMB 000 RMB'000 RMB'000
Trade receivables from contracts with customers . 73,643 285,019 221,366
Less: allowance for expected ¢redit losses . .. . . {48) (E14) {8
73,595 284,905 221,277

As at January 1, 2023, trade receivables from contracts with customers amounted to nil.

The following is an aged analysis of trade receivables (net of allowsnce for credit losses) presented based on

dates of delivery of goods:

23,

The Group and the Company

As ut December 31, As at March 34,
2023 2024 2025
RMB 000 RMB'000 RMB'GOG

90 days ... ... o 67,017 50,066 542
91-180days. . . .. . e 6,578 216,095 42,514
EBL-270days. . . .. ... - 13,007 166,232
271-363days. . .. ..o - 219 8,220
over Lyear . ... ... ... ... . ... - 5,518 3,769

73,595 284,905 221,277

Details of the assessment on the provision of the allowance for expected credit loss of the trade
receivables of the Group and the Company as at December 31, 2023 and 2024 and March 31, 2025 are set out
in Note 35.

OTHER RECEIVABLES AND PREPAYMENTS

The Group
As al December 31, As at Mareh 31,
2023 2024 2025
RMB'000 RME'000 RMB 000
Other receivables
Value added tax recoverable. . .. ... ... .. .. 32,978 37,967 39,826
Deferred i$8UC COS . . . . v v oL - 1,822 3,016
Rental deposits. . .. ... . ..o oo 2,441 2,316 2,316
Others . « . . v o v 1,590 1,046 1,049
37,000 43,151 46,207
Prepayments for
Acquisition of long-term assets. . ... .. ... .. 17,031 24,11 25,546
Raw material purchase . . . ... ... .. ... ... 2,030 8,903 3,235
Servicefee . . .. ... ... .. .. ... ... 1,904 2,939 3,591
Others . . .. ... .. ... ... 1,194 1,588 5,801
22,159 38.201 38.173
59,168 81,352 84,380
Less: non-current assets . . .. .. ... .. (44,396) (60,861) (63,448)
Current 48SetS . . . . . . e 14,772 20,491 20,932
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The Company

As at December 31, As al March 31,
2023 2024 2025
RMB'000 RMB'000 RAMB'000

Other reccivables
Amount due from a subsidiary (Nate) .. ... .. $9,676 - -
Deferred issue cost . .. .. . ... . - 1,822 3,016
Value added tax recoverable. . . . .. .. ... ... 24,924 33,908 36,488
Rental deposits. . ... ........ .. ....... 97 92 92
Others . . .o o e 1,590 964 996

116,287 36,786 40,592
Prepayments for
Acquisition of long-term assets. .. ... ...... 16,982 24,769 25,546
Raw material purchase . . . . ............. 2,026 8,903 3,223
Servicefee . . ... . ... e 1,675 104,332 162,523
Others . .. o o e 1,084 1,579 5,792

21,767 139,583 197,084

138,054 176,369 237,676
Less: Non-current assets . . . . . ... ... ..... (42,004) (58,637) (62,127)
Current assets . . . .. . oo vttt e 96,050 117,732 175,549

Note: The amount due from a subsidiary was non-trade in nature, unsecured, interest-free and repayable on
demand.

Details of the assessment on the provision of the allawance for credit loss of the other receivables of the Group

and the Company as at December 31, 2023 and 2024 and March 31, 2025 are set out in Note 33,

24.

FINANCIAL ASSETS AT FVTPL

The Group and the Company

As ut December 31, As al March 31,
2023 2024 2025
RMB 000 RMB'000 RMB'000
Wealth management products (Note) .. ... ... 10,020 - -

Note: During the years ended December 31, 2023 and 2024 and the three months ended March 31, 2025, the
Group entered into contracts of wealth management proeducts with a bank with maturity term within 4
months, The returns of the wealth management products are determined by reference to the performance
of the underlying instruments in the currency market, therefore they are recognized as financial assets
at FVTPL. The weighted average annual return rate were 2.52%, 2.21% and 2.52% for the years ended
December 31, 2023 and 2024 and the three months ended March 31, 2023, respectively.

The Group has redeemed all the wealth management products as at December 31, 2024 and March 31, 20235,

Details of the fair value measurement of the financial assets at FVTPL are set out in Note 35.



25, CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS/TIME DEPOSITS/PLEDGED BANK DEPOSITS

Cash and cash equivalents include short term deposits for the purpose of meeting the Group's short term cash
commitments, which carried interest at market rates range from ¢.10% to 0.30% during the Track Record Period.

As at December 31, 2023, time deposits amounted o RMB22,236,000 and carried fixed rates of 3.99% per
annum, with original maturity of three years.

As at December 31, 2023 and 2024 and March 31, 2025, pledged bank deposits carried fixed interest rate of
0.20%, 1.00% and 1.00%, respectively, and represented deposits pledged to banks to secure notes payables and are
therefore classified as current assets. The pledged bank deposits will be released upon the setilement of relevant notes
payables.

Details of the assessment on the provision of the expecied credit loss of the cash and cash equivalents, time
deposits and pledged bank deposits of the Group and the Company as at December 31, 2023 and 2024 and March
31, 2025 are set out in Note 35.

26. TRADE AND OTHER PAYABLES

The Group
As ot December 31, As at March 31,
2023 2024 2025
RAIB'000 RMB'000 RMB'00G
Payabies for raw material and service fee . . . . . 83,876 98,385 86,295
Notes payables. . . ... ... .. ... .. ...... 5,486 689 689
Payabies for acquisition of property, plant and
cquipment . .., . L 109,909 159,706 139,640
Payroll and welfare payables . . ........... 38,549 33,500 37,713
Payables for marketing activities. . .. .. ... .. 19,217 109,929 117,539
Deposits from suppliers . .. ... .......... 18,032 27,558 24,854
Other tax pavables ... ... ............. 863 1,118 662
Accrued listing expenses and issue costs . . . ., - 6,385 7,401
Others . .. . ... o 15,618 20,76% 21,740
291,550 458,031 436,573
Less: non-current liabilities . . . . ... ... ..., - {16,416} {16,416)
291,550 441,615 420,157

The average credit period on purchases of materials and services of the Group is mainly 30 days. The following
is an aged analysis of the trade payables, presented based on the invoice dates, at the end of the reporting period:

As at Pecember 31, As at Mareh 31,
2023 2024 2025
RMB'040 RMB'060 RAB 000
1-30days . . .. .. . 81,583 £8,801 69,761
3ldaystoe Lyear . ... ... oo 2,293 9,584 10,534
83,876 98,385 86,295
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The Company

As at December 31, As at March 31,
2023 2024 2025
RMB 000 RI1B'GOS RAMB'000

Puyables for raw material and service fee . . . ., 61,169 72,204 60,260

Notes payables . . . .. ... ... .. ... ...... 5,486 689 689
Payabies for acquisition of property, piant and

cguipment . ... ... ... 109,017 158,420 138,836

Payroll and welfare payables .. ... ........ 22,664 21,785 24,766

Payables for marketing activities .......... 19,217 109,929 117,539

Deposits from suppliers . . ... ... ........ 18,032 27,558 24,894

Amount due to a subsidiary (Note) . . .. ..... - 60,124 i11,124

Other tax payables . ... .. ............. 850 1,100 657

Accrued listing expenses and issue costs. . . . . . - 6,385 7,401

Others . . .. ... ... . . 15,174 19,115 18,343

251,609 477,309 504,509

Less: non-current liabilities . .. ... .. ... ... - (16,416} (16,416)

251,609 460,893 488,093

Note: The amount due to a subsidiary were non-trade in nature, unsecured, interest-free and repayable on
demand.

The average credit pericd on purchases of materials and services of the Group is mainly 30 days. The following
is an aged analysis of the trade payables, presented based on the invoice dates, at the end of each reporting period:

As ail December 31, As at March 31,
2023 024 2025
RMBO0OG RMB'00 RMB'000
I-30days ... . oo 59,473 62,654 59,144
3ldaysto byear ... ... ... ... . ..., . 1,696 9,550 L,li6

61,169 72,204 60,260

27.  REFUND LIABILITIES
The Group and the company

The Group recognizes a refund liability it the Group expects it weuld not be entitled 1o consideration of all
goods delivered arising from the rights granted by the Group to the customers to return some or all the goods
purchased. Upon revenue recognition, the Group estimates the future sales return of the goods sold and a
corresponding adjustment to revenue is recognized for those products expected to be returned.

For a sale of products with a right to return products, the Group recognizes all of the following:

(a)  vevenue for the transferred products in the amount of consideration to which the Group expects to be
entitled. Therefore, revenue would not be recognized for the products expected to be returned; and

() a refund liability.

The right to retwrned goods asset represents the Group’s right to recover products from customers where
customers exercise their right of return under the Group’s return policy.
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Refund liabilities

Arising from right of return. . . .. .. ., . ...

BORROWINGS

The Group

Bank borrowings . . ... ... ... . ... ...

Bank borrowings under supplier finance

arrangements (Note) . . . . .. .. .. ..., ..

Borrowings from banks — unsecured and

unguaranteed ... ... L Lol

Borrowings from banks — secured and

unguaranteed . . ...

Borrowings from banks — unsecured and

guaranteed . .. L L. L.

Less: current portion . . ... ..., . ... ...

Non-current portion . . . ... ............

Analysed as:

Fixed interest rate . . . . .. ... ... .......

Maturity of borrowings

The carrying amounts of the borrowings are

repayable:

Withinoneyear . . ..................
Within a peried of more than one year but not

exceeding

WO YEATS . . o . o vt v
Within a period of more than two years but not
exceeding five years . . . . .. ... ... ... .

As at December 31,

As at March 31,

2023 2024 2025
RMB'00 RAIB'000 RMB'00G
13,259 84,721 81,056
As at December 31, As al Mareh 31,
2023 2024 2025
RMB'060 RMB'0OGO RAMEB'000
366,149 809,536 883,126
- - 12,585
366,149 809,536 895,711
As at December 31, As al March 31,
2023 2024 2025
RMB 060 RMEB'060 RMB'O00
256,897 384,030 470,505
104,262 375,551 425,206
4,990 49,955 -
366,149 809,536 895,711
(2£7,887) (347,524) (405,299
148,262 462,012 490,412
128,087 295,646 302,727
238,062 513,890 592,984
366,149 809,536 895,711
217,887 347,524 405,299
- 108,237 103,691
124,000 136,686 149,953
24,262 217,089 236,768
366,149 809,536

895,711

Note; The Group has entered into a supplier finance arrangement with a bank in 2025, Under this arrangement,
the bank will seitle the payables and prepayment to the suppliers on behalf of the Group. The Group’s
obligations to suppliers are legally extinguished on seitlement by the relevant bank. The Group then
settles with the banks within 1 year with fixed interest rate of 3.25% per annum. This arrangement has
extended the payment terms, which were extended beyond the original due dates of respective invaices,
Information of the Group's supplier finance arrungement is set out in note 37b.



The ranges of effective interest rates on the Group's fixed and variable-rate borrowings are as follows:

Effective interest rate:
Fixed-rate borrowings

The Company

Bank borrowings
Bank borrowings under supplier finance

arrangement {(Note). . . ... ... ... ..

Borrowings from banks — unsecured and
unguaranteed
Borrowings from banks — secured and
unguaranteed
Borrowings from banks — unsecured and

gnaranteed . ... ... L L L

Less: corrent portion . . . ... ... ... ..

Non-current portion. . . . ... ........

Analysed as:

Fixed interestrate . . . .. ...........

Maturity of borrowings

The carrying amounts of the borrowings are

repayable:

Withinome year .. ... ... ... ...

Variable-rate borrowings . . . ... ... ...

As at December 31,

As al Mareh 31,

2023 2024

2025

RMB'000 RMB'000

3.209-3.65%
3.20%-4.10%

3.00%-3.60%
3.00%-4.10%

As af December 31,

RMB'000

3.00%-3.45%
3.00%-3.50%

As al Marceh 31,

2123 2024 2025
RMB'060 RMB'060 RAB'000
361,159 799,626 883,126
- - 12,585
361,159 799,626 895,711

As at December 31,

As at March 31,

Within a period of more than one year but not

exceeding

WO YEATS . . . o v v v oo e e e e e e

Within a peried of more than two years but not

exceeding five years . .. . ... ... ...

Within a period of more than five years . .. .. .

~ 143 -

2023 2024 2025
RMB'000 RMB'0O0Q RMB'O00

256,897 384,030 470,505
104,262 375,551 425,206

- 40,045 -

361,159 799,626 895,711
(212,897) (337,614) (405,299)
148,262 462,012 490,412
123,097 285,736 302,727
238,062 513,890 592,984
361,159 799,626 895,711
212,897 337,614 405,299
- 108,237 103,691

124,000 136,686 149,953
24,262 217,089 236,768

361,150 799,626

895,711



The ranges of effective interest rates on the Company's fixed and variable-rate borrowings are as foliows:

As at December 31, As at dMarch 31,
223 2024 2025
RMB 080 RMB'60G RMB'000
Effective inferest rate:
Fixed-rate borrowings . ... ... .......... 3.20%-3.65% 3.00%-3.60% 3.00%-3.45%
Variable-rate borrowings. . . ... ... .. ... .. 3.35%-4.10% 3.00%-4.10% 3.00%-4.10%

Details of the security are set out in Notes 16 and 17. As of December 31, 2023 and 2024, loans of
RMB4,990,000 and RMB49,955,000 of the Group were guaranteed by Mr. An. The guarantee from Mr. An has been
relcased as of March 31, 2025.

29, LEASE LIABILITIES

The Group
As at Deeember 31, As al Mareh 31,
2023 2024 2025
RMB 060 RMB 000 RMB'000
Lease liabilities payable
Withinone year . . ... ................ 6,467 7,146 8,027
Within a period of more than one year but not
exceeding two years . . .. ... ... .. ..., 6,340 7,023 7,243
Within a period of moere than two years but not
exceeding five years . . . ... ... ... L. 24,950 24,574 24,194
Within a period of more than five years . . . . .. 17,518 10,530 8,957
55,275 49,273 48,421
Less: Amount due for settlement within one year
shown as current Habilities . . .. ... ... ... 6,467 (7,146) (8,027)
Amount due for settlement after one year shown
as non-current liabilities. . . .. ... .. ... .. 48,808 42,127 40,394

During the Track Record Period, the incremental borrowing rates applied to lease liabilities range from 4,30%
o 4.65%.
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30. DEFERRED INCOME

The Group and the Company

AS at December 31, As al March 3],
2023 2024 2025
RMB000 RMB 606 RMB'ODO
Government grants
— Asset related grants (Note) . . ... ... .. ... 30,240 37,018 36,347

Assels related

RMB'O0D

Movements of such grants:

AsatJanuary 1, 2023 . ... 29,749
Grants received . . . . o e e e e 1,000
Credited to profit orloss (Note 8) . . . . . . . . . ... . . . . .. (509)
As at December 31, 2023 . . . . o e e e 30,240
Grants received . . . . . o o e e e e e 8,550
Credited to profitorloss (Note 8) . . . .. . . ... (1,772)
As at December 31, 2024 . . . . . e e 37,018
Credited to profit or loss (Note 8) . . . . . . . . ... ... . . . . . @2y
As at March 31, 2025 . . . L e 36,807

Note: The asset-related grants are the subsidies received from the government for the purpose of purchase of
the Group’s property, plant and cguipment.

31. SHARE-BASED PAYMENT TRANSACTIONS
Restricted shares scheme

In recognition of the contributions of certain eligible directors, supervisors and employees, two employee
stock ownership platforms were established in August 2017, namely 23K RSB AREMEMBHE SR 4LRCEME
¥\ Taizhou Huirong Enterprise Management Consulting Service Partnership (Limited Partnership) (“Taizhou
Huirong”) and #4040 RT B MRES & 22U PR &%) Taizhou Huilong Enterprise Management Consulting
Service Partnership (Limited Partnership) (“Taizhou Huilong™, to hold the Company’s share capital of
RMB 10,600,000, to implement first-batch restricted shares award scheme (#2017 Employee Incentive Scheme™).

Under the 2017 Employee Incentive Scheme, eligible directors, supervisors and employees shall subscribe for
partnership interest of employee stock ownership platforms at a consideration price of RMBI or RMBI.5 for RMB1
partnership interest and indirectly hold 16,267,000 incentive shates of the Company after the joint stock company
conversion.

Details of the restricted shares issued under the 2017 Employee Incentive Scheme are as follows:

Amaount of Vesting schedule delined in
Grant date registered capital Grantee cantract term
RMB'GO0
August 29,2017 .. ... .. 810 A supervisor and 100% five ycars after
cmployees grant date
August 29,2017 . .. .. .. 4,660 A director and employces 100% on grant date
July 18,2049 . .. ... ... 2,180 A supervisor and 100% five years after
cmployces grant date
July 18,2009 ... ... ... 2,350 A director and employees 100% on grant date
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In December 2020, an employce stock ownership platform was established, namely T80 &85 358 W A5HTIR
BE B AR IR E )/ Taizhou Huida Enterprise Management Consulting Service Partnership (Limited Partnership)
(“Taizhou Huida™), together with three employee stock ownership nested platforms, namely FeJH #5834 125
RIESE& M EH(EW &Y Taizhou Huining Enterprise Management Consulting Service Partnership (Limited
Partnership) (“Taizhou Huining™), FMEM SHITHEMENRE 4 E ARG R S/ Taizhoy  Huixin  Enterprise
Manzgement Consulting Service Partnership (Limited Partnership) (“Tnizhou Huixin®) and ZEMEERE 4 U 0 344y
MR S5 W (F B2 8 )/ Taizhou Huijin Enterprise Management Consulting Service Partnership (Limited
Partnership) (*Taizhou Huijia™), to hold the Company’s share ¢apital of RMB11,500,000, to implement second-batch
restricted shares award scheme (“2020 Employee Incentive Scheme™).

Under the 2020 Employee Incentive Scheme, eligible directors, supervisors and employees shall subscribe for
partnership interest of Taizhou Huida and the nested platforms at a consideration of RMB3.964 for RMB | partnership

interest and indirectly held 18,707,000 incentive shares of the Company after the joint stock company conversion,

Details of the restricted shares issued under the 2020 Employee Incentive Scheme are as follows:

Amount of Vesting schedule defined in
Grant date repistered capital Grantee contract lerm
RMBGO0
June I, 2021 . ... ... .. 1,750 A director, a supervisor 100% three years after
and employees grant date
September 1, 2021. ... .. 4,110 Directors and employces 100% three years after
grant date
May 31,2022, ........ 1,500 A supervisor and 100% three years after
cmployces grant date
December 15, 2022 ... .. 2,480 A dircctor, a supervisor 100% three years after
and employees grant date
March 10, 2023, .. ... .. 1,280  Employees 100% three years after
grant date
April 1,2023 . ... ... .. 136 Employees 1009% three years after
grant date
May 4,2023 ......... 1,040 A director, a supervisor 100% three years after
and cmployees grant date
September 26, 2024 . . . .. 180 Employees 1009 three years after
grant date
December 24, 2024 . . . .. 120 Employees 100% three years after

grant date

Other details of 2017 Employee Incentive Scheme and 2020 Employee Incentive Scheme were inciuded in
“Appendix VI — Statutory and General Information” in this prospectus,

The Company was converted to a joint stock company on February 22, 2022, 360,000,000 ordinary shares with
par value of RMB1 each were issued and allotted to the respective shareholders of the Company according to the
paid-in capital registered under these sharcholders on that day and following table reflects the impact of the

conversion. One registered share capital before the conversion represented 1.63 shares of the joint stock company.

The consideration was fully settled.
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Set out below are details of the movements of the owsstanding restricted shares during the years ended
December 31, 2023 and 2024 and three months ended March 31, 2025:

Outstanding Outsiitnding
as at as ai Fuir value per
Janpuary 1, December 31,  share at the
2023 Granted Vested Forfeited 2023 date of grant
60 nog 000 060 o0g RMB
Director and Supervisor
July 18,2019, ... ... .. 65 - - - 65 3.03
June 1, 2021 ..., ... .. 228 - - - 228 11.64
September §, 2021 ... .. 2,684 - - - 2,684 11.64
May 31,2022 ... ... .. 325 - - - 325 11.64
December 15, 2022, .. .. 439 - - - 439 11.604
May 4, 2023 . ... ... .. - 602 - - 602 11.64
Employec
July 18, 2019, ... ... .. 1,773 - - 81 1,692 3.03
June 1, 2021 , ... ... .. 2,229 - - 358 1,871 11.64
September 1, 2021 ... .. 3,693 - - 439 3,254 11.64
May 31,2022 ., . ..... 2,115 - - o8 2,017 11.64
December 15, 2022 . .. .. 3,595 - - 146 3,449 11.64
March 10, 2023 ., ... .. - 2,082 - 33 2,049 11.64
April 1, 2023, ... ... .. - 211 - - 211 11.64
May 4, 2023 . ... ... .. - 1.080 - - 1,090 11.64
Total. . .. ..... ..... 17,146 3,985 - 1,E55 19,976
Weighted average fair
value per share (RMB). 10.71 11.64 - 11.03 10.88
Ouistanding Outstanding
as at as at Fair value per
Junuary 1, December 31, share at the
2024 Granied Yested Forleited 2024 date of grant
‘008 ‘000 jLn 000 o0 RMEB
Director and Supervisor
July 18,2009, .. ... ... 65 - 65 - - 3.03
June 1, 2021 .. ... 228 - 228 - - 11.64
September 1, 2021 ... .. 2,684 - 2,684 - - 11.64
May 31,2022 ........ 325 - - - 325 11.64
December 15, 2022 ... .. 439 - - - 439 11.64
May 4, 2023 . ........ 602 - - - 602 11.64
Employee
July 18,2019, .. ... ... 1,692 - 1,692 - - 3.03
June 1, 2021 ... ... ... 1,871 - 1,806 65 - 11.64
September 1, 2021 .. . .. 3,254 - 3,189 63 - 11,64
May 31,2022 .. ...... 2,017 - - 65 1,952 11.64
December 15, 2022 .. . .. 3,446 - - 81 3,368 11.64
March 10, 2023 . . ... .. 2,049 - - 49 2,000 11.64
April 1,2023. ... ... .. 211 - - - 211 11.64
May 4, 2023 . .. ... ... 1,080 S - - 1,090 11.64
September 26, 2024. . . .. - 293 - - 203 11.64
December 24, 2024 . . . .. - 195 - - 193 11.64
Total . ... .......... 19,976 488 9.664 325 10,475
Weiglited average fair
value per share (RMB). 10.88 11.64 10.07 11.64 11.64

-1-47 -



Outstanding Outstunding

as al as al Fair value per
Jerooary 1, Transler March 31, share at the
2025 Granted (Note) Forfeited 2025 dale of grant
060 000 Nilnig 000 ‘G0 RMB
Dircctor and Supervisor
July 18,2019, ........ - - - - - 3.03
June I, 2021 ......... - - - - - 11.64
September 1, 2021 . .. .. - - - - - 11.64
May 31,2022 ... ... .. 325 - (293) - 32 11.64
December 15, 2022 ., ., 439 - - - 439 1i.64
May 4,2023 . ........ 602 - - - 602 11.64
Employce
July 18,2019, , . ... ... - - - - - 3.03
Jhune 1,2021 . ... ... .. - - - B - 11.64
September 1, 2021 . .. .. - - - - - 11.64
May 31, 2022 ... ..... 1,952 - 293 - 2,245 11.64
December 15, 2022 . .. .. 3,368 - - 326 3,042 11.64
March 10, 2023 . . ... .. 2,000 - - 439 1,561 11.64
April 1, 2023, ... ... .. 211 - - - 21 11.64
May 4,2023 . ... ..... £,090 - - - 1,090 11.64
September 26, 2024, .. .. 293 - - - 203 11.64
December 24, 2024 . . . .. 195 - - - 185 11.64
Total. . ... ... ...... 10,475 - - 765 9,710
Weighted average
fair valuc per share
(RMB} . .......... 11.64 - - 11.64 11.64

Note: Mr. Tao Hang resigned as a Supervisor on 8 January 2025 and Mr. Wang Wei was assigned as Supervisor
on 2 Januvary 2025.

Fair value of restricted share

The Group used the income approach and back-solve method to determine the underlying equity fair value of
the Company. The fair value of shares at grant date was valued by directors of the Company with reference to
valuation reports carried out by an independent qualified professional valuer, PG Advisory, whose address is
disclosed in Note 19. The fair value of restricted share at grant date was determined to be in the range from RMB3.03
to RMB11.64, by referring to the equity fair value of the Company.

The Group recogrized total expense of approximately RMB48,527,000 and RMB42,033,000 and RMB
2,907,000 for the years ended December 31, 2023 and 2024 and three months ended March 31, 2025, respectively,
in relation to restricted shares.

32. SHARE CAPITAL

Issued and fully paid:

Numbers of shares Share capital
600 RMB'000
As at January 1, 2023, December 31, 2023 and 2024 and
March 31, 2025 . ... ... .. 360,000 360,000
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33,

34.

CAPITAL RESERVES OF THE COMPANY

As at January 1, 2023, . ... .. ..

Loss and total comprehensive
expense for the year . . . ... ...

Recognition of equity setiled share-
based payments . . ..., ... ...

As at December 31, 2023. . . . . ..
Loss and total comprehensive
expense for the year . . .. ... ..
Recognition of equity settled
share-based payments , . . . ... .
Vest of restricted shares . . ., ., ..

As at December 31, 2024, , . .,

Loss and tetal comprehensive
expense for the period. . . . . . ..

Recognition of equity settled
share-based payments . . ... ...

As at March 31, 2025. ........

CAPITAL COMMITMENTS

Share-based Accumuluted
Share premiom payments reserve Losses Total
RMB 000 RAMB 000G RATB'600 RAMB'GOG

614,930 50,172 (189.871) 475,231
- - (354,597) (354,597}

- 48,527 - 48,527

614,930 98,699 (544.,468) 169,161
- - (271,819) (271,819)

- 42,033 - 42,033

76,437 (76,437) - -
681,367 64,295 (816,287 (60,625)
- - (82,545 (82,545)

- 2,907 - 2,907
691,367 67,202 (898,832) (140,263)

As at December 31,

As at March 31,

Capital expenditure in respect of the acquisition

of property, plant and equipment in the

Historical Financial Informartion contracted for

but not provided . .. .. ... ......

FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS

Capital risk management

2023 024 2023
RME'000 RMB'ODD RME'00¢
175,813 378,123 427,598

The Group manages its capital to ensure that entities in the Group will be able to continue as z going concern
while maximizing the return to shareholders through the optimization of the debt and equity balance.

The capital structure of the Group consists of net debt, which includes borrowings, lease liabilities and
amounts due to sharcholders disclosed in Notes 28, 29 and 39 respectively, net of cash and cash equivalents and
equity of the Group, comprising share capital and reserves, The directers of the Company review the capital structure
on a continuous basis taking into account the cost of capital and the risks associated with each class of capital, The
Group will balance its overall capitel structure through the issue of new shares and borrowing, if necessary.
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b. Categories of financial instruments

The Group
As ut December 31, As at March 31,
2023 224 2025
RMB Q00 RMB 069 RMB'000
Financial assets
Financial assets at amortized cost . . ., ... ... 130,666 420,599 339,341
Financial assets at FYTPL. . . . . ... .... ... 10,020 - -
Financial liabilities
Financial liabilities at amortized cost . . . . . ., . 618,285 1,260,622 £,293,909
The Company
As al December 31, As at March 35,
2023 2024 2025
RMB'000 RMB'GOG RMB 000
Financial assets
Financial assets at amortised cost . . . . ... ... 234,087 417,641 335,653
Financial assets at FVTPL. . . . .. e e e 10,020 - -
Financial liabilities

Financial liabilities at amortised cost . ... . ... 587,199 1,281,723 1,374,797

c. Financial risk management ohjectives and policies

The Group’s major financial assets and liabilities include trade reccivable, other receivables, financial assets
at FVTPL, pledged bank deposits, time deposits, cash and cash equivalents, trade and other payables, amounts due
to shareholders und borrowings. Details of these financial instrumenis are disclosed on respective notes and the
policies on how to mitigate these risks are set ont below. The risks associared with these financial instruments include
market risk (interest rate risk), credit risk and liguidity risk. The management of the Group manages and monitors
these exposures to ensure appropriate measures are implemented in a timely and effective manner.

Interest rate risk

The Group is exposed to fuir value interest rate risk in relation to fixed-rate borrowings, amounts due to
sharehelders, lease liabilities, pledged bank deposits and time deposits (see Notes 28, 39, 29 and 25 for details). The
Group is also exposed to cash flow interest rate risk in relation to variable-rate bank balances and variable-rate
borrowings (see Notes 25 and 28 for details). The Group’s cash flow interest rate risk is mainly congentrated on the
fluctuation of interest rates on bank balances and borrowings. As the management considers that the exposure of cash
flow interest rate risk arising from variable rate bank balances and variable-rate borrowings is insignificant, therefore
no sensitivity analysis on such risk has been prepared.

Credit risk and impairinent assessmeit

Credit risk refers to the risk that the Group’s counterparties defanlt on their contractuzl obligations resulting
in financial losses to the Group. The Group’s credit risk exposures are primarily attributable to trade receivables,
other receivables, pledged bank deposits, thme deposits and cash and cash equivalents. The Group does not hoid any
collateral or other credit enhancements to cover its credit risks associated with its financial assets.

Trade receivables

In order to minimize credit risk, the Group has developed and maintained the Group's credit risk gradings to
categorize exposures according to their degree of risk of default,
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For trade receivables, the Group has applied the simplified approach in IFRS 9 to measure the loss allowance
at lifetime ECL. The ECL on trade receivable are assessed collectively, based on the internal credit rating and an
assessment of both the current as well as the forward-looking information that is available without unduc cost or
effort at the end of each period. The expected credit loss of trade receivables as at December 31, 2023 and 2024 and
March 3E, 2025 were RMB48,000 and RMB114,000 and RMBS89,000, respectively. Details of the quantitative
disclosures are set out below in this note.

Other receivables

For other receivables and deposits, the management makes periodic individual assessment on the
recoverability of other receivables and deposits based on historical scttlement records, past experience, and also
quantitative and qualitative information that is reasonable and supportive forward-looking information. The
management believes that there are no significant increase in credit risk of these amounts since initial recognition
and the Group provided impairment based on 12m ECL, except for certain other receivables with significant increase
in credit risk are provided impairment based on lifetime ECL. During the Track Record Period, the Group assessed
the ECL for other receivables and deposits are insignificant und thus no loss allowance is recognized,

Caslt and cash equivalents, time depasits and pledged bank deposits

The credit risk on cash and cash equivalents, time deposits and pledged bank deposits is limited because the
counterparties are banks with high eredit ratings assigned by international credit-rating agencies. The Group assessed
12m ECL for cash and cash equivalents, time deposits and pledged bank deposits by reference to information relating
to probability of defanlt and loss given defanlt of the respective credit rating grades published by external credit
rating agencies. Based on the average loss rates, the 12m ECL on cash and cash cquivalents, time deposits and
pledged bank deposits is considered to be insignificant and therefore no loss sllowance was recognized.

The Group and The Companies’ internal credit risk grading assessment comprises the following categories:

Internal eredit rating Description Trade reecivables Other linancial nssels

Lowrisk . ... ... The counterparty has a low risk of Lifetime ECL - not |2-month ECL
default and does not have any past credit-impaired
due amounts

Watch list ... . .. Debtor frequently repays after due Lifetime ECL — not [2-month ECL
dates but usually settle in full credit-impaired

Deoubtful . ..., ., Amount is >30 days past due or there Lifetime ECL - not  Lifetime ECL — not
has been a significant increase in credit-impaired credit-impaired

credit risk since initial recognition
through information developed
internally or external resources

Loss.......... There is evidence indicating the asset Lifetime ECL — Lifetime ECL ~ credit
is credit-impaired credit-impaired impaired
Write-off . . . .. .. Amount is >90 days past due or there Amount is written off Amount is written off

is evidence indicating that the
debtor is in severe financial
difficulty and the Group has no
realistic prospect of recovery
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The tables below detail the credit risk exposures of the Group’s and the Company’s financial assets which are
subject to ECL assessment:

The Group

Gruss carrying amount

As at December 31, Asal
Internal credit 12-month or March 31,
Noles rating lifetime ECL w23 2024 2025
RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'OG0
Financial assets at
amortized cost
Cash and cash 25 Low risk 12-month ECL 45,318 132,194 114,561
cquivalenis . . . . .
Time deposits . . . . . 25 Low risk 12-month ECL 22,236 - -
Pledged bank 25 Low risk 12-month ECL 5,486 138 138
deposits . ... ...
Trade receivables. . . 22 Low risk Lifetime ECL 73,643 285,019 221,366
(collective
assessment)
Other receivables. . . 23 Low risk 12-month ECL 4,031 3,362 3,365
The Company
Gross carrying amount
As at December 31, As at
Iaternal eredit 12-month or March 31,
Notes raling lifelime ECL 2013 2024 2025
RME'G00 RMB 000 RMB'000
Financial assets at
amortized cost
Cash and cash 25 Low risk 12.month ECL 41,407 131,542 113,150
equivalents . . ., .
Time deposits . . . . . 25 Low risk 12-month ECL 22,236 - -
Pledged bank 25 Low risk 12-month ECL 5,486 i38 138
deposits . ... ...
Trade receivables . . . 22 Low risk Lifetime ECL 73,643 285,019 221,366
(collective
assessment)
Other receivables. . . 23 Low risk 12-wonth ECL 91,363 1,056 1,088




Movement in lifetime ECL that has been recognized for trade receivables in accordance with the simplified
approach set out in IFRS 9 as at December 31, 2023 and 2024 and March 31, 2025:

The Group and the Company
Gross carrying amount

As at December 31, 2023

Gross carrying
amgunt of trade

Internal credit rating Average less rate receivables Lifetime ECL
RMEB'D00 RALB'GO0
Lowrisk. . ... ... ... . 0.07% 73,643 43

As at December 31, 2024

Gross carrying
amount of trade

Internal credit rating Averuge loss rate receivables Lifetime ECL
RAB’ 000 RMB' 000
Low risk. . . .. e e

o
(]
=
B

285,019 114

As al December 31, 2025

Gross carrying
amoeunt of trade

internal crediil raling Average loss rate receivables Lifetime ECI,
RMB" 400 RME 000
9

Lowrisk. . ... ... ... . o 0.04% 221,366 8

The Group and the Company

Lifetime ECL
(not credit-impaired)

RME000
Asat January 1,2023. ... ... ... .. ..., .. e e e -
Impairment losses recognized, net of reversal . . .. . .. . ... L ... 48
As at December 31,2023, .. ... ... ........ P e 48
Impairment losses recognized, net of reversal . . ... .. .. ... .. .. L. 66
As at December 31,2024, ., .. ... ... ... .. e 114
Impairment losses recognized, netof reversal . . .. . ., . ... .. L. {25}
Asat March 31, 2025 . . . . . L 89

Liquidity risk

In the management of the liquidity risk, the Group monitors and maintains a level of cash and cash equivalents
deemed adequate by the management to finance the Group’s operations and mitigate the effects of fluctuations in cash
flows. The management of the Group monitors the utilization of bank borrowings and ensure compliance with loan
covenants.

The following table details the Group’s remaining contractual maturity for its financial liabilities and lease
fiabilities. The table has been drawn up based on the undiscounted cash flows of financial labilities according to the
earliest date on which the Group can be required to pay. The tabie includes both interest and principal cash flows.
To the extent that interest flows are floating rate, the undisconnted amount is derived based on management’s best
estimates from interest rate at the end of each reporting period, taking into consideration interest rate curve, if
available.
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The Group

As at December 31, 2023
Trzde and other payables .
Borrowings

— Fixed interest rate. . . . .
~ Variable intcrest rate . . .
Lease liabilities . . .. ...

As at December 31, 2024
Trade and other payables .
Borrowings
— Fixed interest rate. . . . .
— Variable interest rate . . .
Lease liabilities . .. ... .
Amounts due to
shareholders . . . .. ...

As at March 31, 2025
Trade and other payables .
Borrowings

- Fixed interest rate. . . . .
— Variable interest rate , , .
Lease liabilities .. . .. ..

The Company

As at December 31, 2023
Trade and other payables .
Borrowings

— Fixed interest rate. . . ., .
— Variable interest rate . . .

As at December 31, 2024

Trade and other payables .

Borrowings

— Fixed interest rate. . . . .

— Variable interest rate . . .

Amounts due to
shareholders . . . ... ..

Weighted On demand or Total
iEverige less than One te More than undiscounted  Toial carrying
interest rate one year five yenrs {ive years cash Mows amounts
% RAIB 0009 RMB'000 RALE'000) RMB'00Q RMB'OO0
- 252,136 - - 252,136 252,136
3.41 130,186 - - 130,186 128,087
3.55 96,880 134,080 29,940 260,900 238,062
4.56 8410 37.562 18,560 64,532 55,275
487,612 171,642 48,500 707,754 673,560
- 423,413 - - 423,413 423,413
3.24 300,339 - - 300,339 295,646
3.57 68,998 291,687 222,249 582,934 513,890
4.56 8,758 36,436 10,928 56,122 49,273
3.00 27,698 - - 27,698 27,673
829,206 328,123 233,177 1,390,506 1,309,895
- 398,198 - - 398,198 308,198
314 308,375 - - 308,375 302,727
3.33 118,946 296,753 244,996 660,695 592,984
4.56 9,565 35,922 9,238 54,725 48,421
835,084 332,675 254,234 1,421,993 1,342,330
Weighted On demand or Total
average less than ene One o More than undiscounted  Total carrying
inferest rate year five years Ave years vash Nlows antounts
o RMB'000 RMB'GUOG RMB 000 RMB'G00 RMB000
- 226,040 - - 226,040 226,040
3.41 125,185 - - 125,185 123,097
3.55 96,880 134,080 29,940 260,900 238,062
448,105 134,080 29,940 612,125 587,199
- 454,424 - - 454,424 454,424
3.24 290,428 - - 290,428 283,736
3.57 68,998 291,687 222,249 582,934 313,890
3.00 27,698 - - 27,698 27,673
841,548 291,687 222,249 1,355,484 1,281,723
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Weighied On demand or Total

average less than one One o More than undiscounted  Fotal carrying
interest rade yor five years live years cash flows Amounts
b3 RMB'000 RALDR' 000 RAMB'G0G RMEB'000D RMRB'000
As at March 31, 2025
Trade and other payables . - 479,086 - - 479,086 479,080
Borrowings
- Fixed interest rate. . . . . 3.14 308,375 - - 308,375 302,727
- Variable interest rate . . . 3.33 118,946 296,753 244,996 660,695 592,984

906,407 296,753 244,996 1,448,156 1,374,797

d. Fair value measurements of financial instruments
Some of the Group’s financial instruments are measured at fair value for financial reporting purposes. The

directors of the Company are responsible to determine the appropriate valuation techniques and inputs for fair value
measurements.

In estimating the fair value, the Group uses market-observable data to the extent it is available.

(f) Fair value of the Group’s financial assets and financial liabilities that are measured at fair value on a
recurring basis

Some of the Group's financial asscts arc measured ar fair value at the end of each rcporting period, The
foilowing table gives information about how the fair values of these financial assets are determined (in particular,

the valuation technique(s) and inputs used).

Fuir value a5 al

Fair value Valuation technigue and
Financlal agsets December 31, iMareh 31, hicrarchy key inputs
2023 2024 2035
RMBO0D RMB00Q RM B 00G
Financial assets at 10,020 - - Level 2 Discounted cash flows

FYTPL ... ... method, estimated based

an expected return and
market foreign exchange
rate,

There were no transfers between Level | and 2 during the Track Record Period.

() Fair value of financial assets and financial liabilities that are not measured at fair valne on a recurring
basis

The management of the Group considers the carrying amounts of financial assets and financizl liabilities
recorded at amortized cost in the Historical Financial Information approximate their fair value,

36. RETIREMENT BENEFIT PLANS

The employees of the Group are members of the state-managed retirement benefits schentes operated by
government. The Group is required to contribute a certain percentage of payroll costs to the retirement benefits
schemes to fund the benefits. The only obligation of the Group with respect to the retirement benefits schemes is to
make the specified contributions,

The total cost charged to profit or loss in respect of the above-mentioned schemes amounted to approximately
RMB12,565,000, RMB 14,375,000, RMB3,582,000 (unaudited} and RMB3,553,000 for the years ended December 31,
2023 and 2024 and three moaths ended March 31, 2024 and 2025, respectively.
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37.

RECONCILIATION OF LIABILITIES ARISING FROM FINANCING ACTIVITIES

The table below details changes in the Group's liabilities arising from financing activities, including both cush

and non-cash changes. Liabilities arising from firancing activities are those for which cash flows were, or future cash
flows will be, classified in the Group’s consotidated statements of cash flows as cash flows from financing activities,

37D.

Amounts due Acerued
Borrowings to sharcholders issue cost Leasce [iabilities _Total
RMB 060 RMB00G RMBOOD RMB D00 RMB'GO0

As at January 1, 2023 . .. 19,266 - - 43,080 62,346
Net financing cash flows. . 342,114 - - (6,948) 335,166
New leases entered . .. . . - - - 17,082 17,082
Lease modification . .. .. - - - (374) (374)
Interest expenses . .. ... 4,769 - - 2,435 7,204
As at December 31, 2023 . 366,149 - - 55,275 421,424
Net financing cash flows. . 421,191 27,500 (1,266) (8,367 439,058
Interest expenses . .. . .. 22,196 173 - 2,365 24,734
Deferred issue cost ... .. - - 1,822 - 1,822
As at December 31, 2024 . 809,536 27,673 556 49,273 387,038
Net financing cash flows. . 66,450 (27,732) (1,152) (1,399) 36,167
Interest expenses . ... .. 7,140 59 - 547 7,746
Deferred issue cost .. . .. - - 1,194 - 1,194
New bank borrowings

under supplier tfinance

arrangement entered . . . 12,585 - - - 12,585
As at March 31, 2025 . .. 895,711 - 598 48,421 944,730
As at December 31, 2023 . 366,149 - - 55,275 421,424
Net financing cash flows. . 162,514 - - (2,017) 160,497
Interest expenses . . .. . . 4,332 - - 616 4,948
As at March 31, 2024

{unaodited}. . . . ... .. 532,995 - - 53,874 586,869
INFORMATION OF SUPPLIER FINANCE ARRANGEMENTS

As af December 31, As at Marceh 31,
2023 2024 2025
RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000

Carrying amount of the financial liabilitics

that are subject to supplier finance

arrangements
Presented as part of borrowings (Note 28)
— Of which suppliers have already received

payment from the finance provider . . . . . ... N/A NFA 12,585

For trade payables with original payment due dates of 30 days, the Group settles with the banks within 1 year

after the banks pay supplicrs the amounts owned by the Group under the supplier finance arrangements. For
prepayments required by suppliers before the contracts commence, the Group also settles with the banks within 1 year
after settlement by the banks under these arrangements.

Changes in liabilities that are subject to supplier finance arrangement are primarily atiributable to additions

resuiting from purchases of goods and services and subsequent cash settlements. During the three months ended
March 31, 2025, borrowings under supplier finance arrangement of RMB12,585,000 represent the payments to the
suppliers by the relevant bank directly. There were no other material non-cash changes in these liabilities.
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38. MAJOR NON-CASH TRANSACTIONS

During the year ended December 31, 2023, the Group entered into a new lcase agreement for property for 6
years. On the iease commencement date, the Group recognized right-of-use assets amounting to RMB 17,082,000 and
lease liabilitics amounting to RMB17,082,000.

Pursuant to the agreement entered by the Group with certain construction suppliers during the year ended

December 31, 2024, both parties mutually agreed to offset the related prepayments with the other payables amounting
to RMB67,400,000,

During the three months ended March 31, 2025, bank borrowings under supplier finance arrangement
amounted to RMB 12,585,000 represent the payments to the suppliers by the relevant bank directly.

39, RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS

Save as disclesed in Note 28, the Group has the following transactions and balances with the refated parties
during the years ended December 31, 2023 and 2024 and three months ended March 31, 2025.

(a) Names and relationships with related party

The following individuals are related parties of the Group that had tramsactions with the Group during the
Track Record Period.

Name of related parcty Relationships

.............................. Sharehelder and director of the Company
He Yiming .. ... ... .. . ... .. ... ... ... . Shareholder and director of the Company

(b) Transactions and eutstanding balances with related partics

Year encled December 31, Three months ended March 31,
2023 2024 2024 2025
RMEB D00 RME Q00 RALR'000 RMEB'000

(unaudited)

Interest expense on amounts due to
sharcholders

{

3]

[P Y]

i !
[y

As at December 31, As at March 31,
2023 2 2025
RMB'G00 RMB'000 RMB'000
Amounts due to shareholders
Mr. An. .. ... - 26,664 -
HeYiming . ............... ... ..... - 1,009 -
- 27.673 -

I
1

The amounts due to shareholders were non-trade in nature, unsecured, repayable on demand, which carry fixed

interest of 3.009 during the Track Record Period. The amounts due to sharcholders have been settled as of March
31, 2025.
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(¢)  Compensation of key management personnel

The remuneration of the directors of the Company and key management of the Group during the years ended
December 31, 2023 and 2024 and three months ended March 31, 2024 and 2025 were as follows:

Year ended December 31, Three months ended March 31,
2023 2024 2024 20235
RMB 004G RAMB 000 RAMB'060 RAMB'o0G
(unaudited)
Director’s fee. . . . ., ......... 360 360 a0 a0
Salaries and other benefits. . . . . . . 6,504 6,349 1,611 1,429
Performance-based bonus (Note) . . . 1,565 1,231 243 222
Retirement benefit scheme
contributions. . . .. .. ... .., 428 441 109 87
Share-based payments .. ....... 16,128 13,068 4,200 [,241
24,985 21,4492 6,253 3,069

Note: Performance-based bonus is determined based on their duties and responsibilities of the relevant
individuals within the Group and the Group’s performance.

40. PLEDGE OF ASSETS

The Group’s borrowings and notes payables had been secured by the pledge of the Group’s assets and the
carrying amounts of the respective assets are as tollows:

As at December 31, As at March 31,
2023 2024 2025
RMB'O00 RMB'000 RMB00D
Property, plant and equipment . . ... . ... ... 134,180 114,039 112,408
Pledged bank deposits . .. ... ... ... ..... 5,486 138 138
Right-of-use assets .. .. ............... 35,697 35,111 34,720
175,363 149,288 147,266

41.  PARTICULARS OF SUBSIDIARY AND INVESTMENT IN A SUBSIDIARY

During the Track Record Period and as at the date of this report, the Company has direct sharcholding interests
in the following subsidiary:

Place of Equity interest attributable
incorporation/ to the Company as at
establishment,
date of Registered and the date of
Name of subsidiary incorporation paid-up ¢apital December 31, March 31,  this report Principal activities
2023 2024 2025

Directly held:
Yither biotech  Shanghai, RMB50,000,000 100% 100% 100% 100%  Research,

(Shanghai) Faly 2, development and
Co., Lad. ... 2020 commercialization

of vaccine

The subsidiary now comprising the Group is limited liability company and have adopted December 31 as their
financial year end.

Note: The statutory financial statements of Yither biotech (Shanghai) Co., Lid. for the year ended December
31, 2023 were prepared in accordance with Accounting Standards for Business Enterprises of the PRC
and were andited by BE ISP TR B4 YRSM China Certified Public Accountants LLP,
certified public accountants registered in the PRC. The statutory financial statements of the Yither
biotech (Shanghai) Co., Ltd. for the year ended December 31, 2024 were prepared in accordance with
Accounting Standards for Business Enterprises of the PRC and were audited by JLERF 08 51 MiSTEs By

LB & YTiangsu Fangeheng Certified Public Accountants Firm, certified public accountants
registered in the PRC.
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As at December 31, As af March 31,

2023 2024 2025
RAMB 600 RME'060 RMB 000
Investment in a subsidiary
— Unlisted shares, atcost . ... ........... 30,060 50,000 50,000
~ Deemed capital contributions to the subsidiary
(Note). . ... ... ... ... . .. . ... 43,838 61,615 64,733
93,838 11E,615 114,733

Note: The amounts represent the equity-settled share-based compensation in respect of the restricted shares
granted by the Company to certain directors znd employees of the subsidiary for employees’ services
rendered to the respeciive subsidiary under the Company’s restricted share scheme as disclosed in Note
31. Since the subsidiary has no obligation to settle the share-based payment transaction, the amounts are
treated as deemed capital contribution by the Company to the subsidiary and included in the Company’s

cost of investment in a subsidiary.

42. SUBSEQUENT FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

No audited financial statements of the Group, the Company or its subsidiary have been prepared in respect of
any period subsequent to the end of the Track Record Peried and up to the date of this report.

43. SUBSEQUENT EVENTS

No significant subsequent events have occurred subsequent to the end of the Track Record Period and up to
the date of this report.
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